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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors present their Strategic Report on Virgin Media Finanee PLC for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Yor the purposes of this Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and financial statements. the Virgin Media Finance
PL.C group will be referred to as “the group”, Virgin Media Finance PL.C the entity will be referred to as “the
company ™. the group headed by Virgin Media Inc. will be referred to as “the Virgin Media group™, and the group
headed by Liberty (Global ple will be referred 1o as “the Liberty Global group™

As at 31 December 2020, the company is a wholly -owned subsidiary undertaking of Virgin Media Inc. (“Virgin
Media™) which is itself a wholly-owned subsidiary of Liberty Global pic (“Liberty Global”). As at 31 December
2020. the financial information of Virgin Media Finance P1.C and its subsidiaries are included in the combined
financial statements of the *Virgin Media group’. Virgin Media group comprises of (i} Virgin Media and its
subsidiarics and (ii) NewCo Heldeo 5 Limited and its subsidiarics (Virgin Media Ireland). The combined
financial stalements of Virgin Media group are available to the public and may bc obtained from Liberty
Global’s website at www. libertyglobal.com.

The group operates under the Virgin Media brand in the United Kingdom (UK) and Treland.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The group provides broadband internet, video, fixed-line telephony, mobile and broadeasting services in the UK
and Ircland and is one of the largest providers of residential communications scrvices in these countries in terms
of the number of customers. The group belieyes its advanced, deep-fibre cable aceess network enables us to offer
faster and higher quality broadband internet services than other digital subscriber line (IDS1.) market panicipants.
As a result, it provides jis customers with a leading next generation broadband internet service and one of the
most advanced interactive teleyision services available in the UK markets.

The group provides mobile services 1o its customers using a third-party network through mobile virtual neiwork
operators (MVNO) arrangements,

In addition, through the Virgin Mcdia Business brand, the group offers a broad portfolio of B2B voice, data.
internet, broadband and managed services solutions 10 small businesses, medium and large enterprises and public
sector organisations in the UK.

At 31 December 2020, the group provided scrvices to 6 million residential cable customers on its network, The
group provides mobile telephony services to 3 million contract mobile customers and 0.1 million prepay mobile
customers over third party nctworks. As of 31 December 2020, 80% of the group’s cable customers received
multiple services and 58% were “triple-play™ customers, recciving broadband internet, video and fixed-line
telephony scrvices.

Liberty Global is an international converged broadband internet, video, (ixed-line telepheny and mobile services
company operating under the consumer brands Virgin, lelenct, UPC, the combined Sunrise UPC, as well as
VodafoneZiggo, which is owned through a 50:50 joint venwre. Liberty Global's substantial scale and
commitment lo innoyation enable it to invest in the infrastructure and digital platforms that empower its
customers to make the most of the digital revolution. Liberty Global delivers markel-leading products through
next-gencration networks that conneet customers subscribing to 49 million {at 31 December 2020) broadband
internet, video, fixed-line telephony and mobile services across its brands, Liberty Global also has significant
investments in TV, All3Media, CANAL+ Polska, ]ionsGate, the Formula E racing serics and scveral regienal
sports networks,

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a contribution agreement with, among others, Telefonica, SA
(Telefonica). Pussuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joint venture,
which will combine Virgin Media’s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK te create
a nationwide integrated communications provider. The formation of the joint venture was completed on 1 June
2021.
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES (continued)

On 30 November 2020, as part of a wider group restructure, the group dispesed of its investment in UPC
Broadband Ircland Limited. The group received consideration of £478.8 million in respect of this and therefore
made a £668.5 million gain on disposal (see note 22).

The principal activity of the company is to facilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policics, making and facilitating external borrowings and holding invesiments in subsidiary
companies. The company s investments include substantially all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companies.

The group’s reporling segments are based on its method of internal reporting to Liberty Global and the
information uscd by its chiclexcoulive uflicer, who is the chief operating decision maker, or CODM, 1o evaluate
scgment performance and make capital allocation decistons.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the comparative profit and loss account has been re-presented so that the
disclosures in refation to discontinued operations, being the disposal of the group’s investment in UPC
Broadband Treland Limited, relate 1o all operations that have been discontinued by the balance sheet date (see
notc 22).

For the vear ended 31 December 2020, revenue deercased by 0.9% to £4,790.3 million from £4,835.7 million
(restated) tn 2019 primarily as result of a decrease in residential cable revenuce and mobile revenue partially
offset by an increase in B2B revenue. See [urther discussion of revenue under ‘Performance against Key
Performance [ndicators” below.

Cost of sales increased by (.7% to £1,650.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, from £1,638.5 million
{restated)y in 2019. Cost of sales increased during 2020, compared 1o 2019 primarily due to higher MYNO costs
and an increase in interconnect and roaming costs, offset by a decrease in programming and copyright costs
primarily duc to lower costs for certain premium and basic content and loss of exclusive programming content
as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, a decrease in mobile handsct and other device costs primarily due to
lower sales volumes due to closure of retail stores as a result of the COVID-19 pandemnic.

Gross profit decreased by 1.8% to £3,139.7 million for the year ended 3t December 2020, lrom £3.197.2 million
(restated) for the yvear ended 31 December 2019 primarily due to the reasons detailed above. Gross margin has
deercased by 0.9% to 65.5% for the year ended 31 December 2020 [rom 66.1% (restated) for year ended 31
December 2019,

Administrative cxpenses increased by 30.5% to £2,818.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, from
£2,159.7 million (restated) for the year ended 31 December 2019, This was partly driven by an increase in
depreciation associated with property and equipment additions related to the installation of customer premises
cquipment, the expansion and upgrade of our networks and other capital initiatives. In addition, related-party
fees and allocations, related to our cstimated sharc of the applicable costs incurred by Liberly Global's
subsidiaries increased to £325.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, from £225.4 million (restated) for
the vear ended 31 December 2019, These charges generally relate 10 management. finance, legal, technology and
other corporate and administrative services provided to or by our subsidiaries.

Finance income decrcased to £457.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, from £487.2 million
(restated) for the vear ended 31 December 2019, The lower interest income arising dug to lower average interest
rates on related party loan receivables from other Liberty Global group undertakings is offset by lower foreign
exchange gains.

Finance costs increased o £968.5 million for the yvear ended 31 December 2020 from £884.2 million (restated)
for the yvear ended 31 December 2019, The increase in costs was principally driven by higher losses on the fair
valuc of derivative financial instruments in 2020, Tn addition, there was an overall decrease in interest payable
due lower weighted average interest rates on a slightly higher average outstanding third-party debt balance.
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

Performance against Key Performance Indicators
Revenue
Residential and B2B revenue includes both subscription and non-subscription revenue,

Residential cable subseription revenue includes amounts received from subscribers for ongoing services and the
recognition of deferred installation revenue over the associated contract period. Residential cable non-
subscription revenue includes, among other items, channe! carriage fees, late fees and revenue from the sale of
equipment.

Residential mobile subscription revenue includes amounts reccived from subscribers for ongoing services.
Residential mobile non-subscription revenue includes, among other items, interconnect revenue and revenue
from sales of mobile handsets and other devices.

B2B subscription revenue represents revenue {fom services to certain small or home office (SOHO) subseribers.
SOHO subscribers pay a premium price to receive expanded service levels along with broadband internet, video
and fixed-line telephony or mobile services that are the same or similar to the mass marketed products offered (o
residential subscribers. 32B non-subscription revenue includes revenue from business broadband internet, video,
fixed-line telephony, mobile and data services offered o medium to large enterprises and on a wholesale basis,
to other operators.

Other revenue primarily includes broadeasting revenue.

Revenue by major category [or the vears ended 31 Decermber 2020 and 2019 was as follows:

Restated

2024 2019 Increase/

Revenue: £ million £ million {decrease)
Residential revenue

Cablc 3,349.9 3.400.0 (1.3)%

Mobile 610.4 623.6 (2.1)%

Total residential revenue 3,960.3 - 4.023.6 (1.6)%

B2B Revenue 765.8 742.1 3.2%

Other revenue 64.2 70.0 (8.3)%

4,7903 18357 0.9)%

The decrease in residential cable subscription revenue related to a change in ARPLU was adversely impacted by
{iy the COVID-19 pandemic, most notably with respect to video services, including lower revenue of
approximately £22 million associated with the loss of exclusive programming contenl, primarily during the
second and third quarters of 2020, comprising (a) credits that were given 10 certain customers and {b) the
estimated impact of cerain customers cancelling their premivm sports subscriptions, and (ii) lower revenue
related to regulated contract notifications.

ARPU. Average Revenue Per Unitis the average monthly subscripton revenue per average fixed-line customer relationship or mobule subscnber, as
applicable
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REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020, mobile revenue decreased to £610.4 million from £623.6 million
(restated) in 2019. The decrcase in mobile revenue relates to a decrease in nen-subscription revenue from mobile
handsct sales. This is partially offset by an increase in residential mobile subscription revenue primarily due to
an increase in the average number of mobile subscribers, partially offset by lower ARPU in the UK.

The increase in B2B subscription revenue is primarily due to an increase in the average number of broadband
internet SO0 subscribers in the UK. The decrcase in B2B non-subscription revenuc is primarily attributable to
our operations in the UK., including the net effect of (i) an increase in upfront revenue recognised in association
with long-term leases of a portion of our network, (i) lower revenue from data serviees, (iii) a decrease in
revenue related to business network services and (iv) lower revenue from wholesale fixed-line 1elephony
services.

Summary residential cable statistics

Sclected statistics for the group’s residential cable customers are shown below:

Restated
2020 2019
Total cable customers 5,626,700 5.518,100
Cablc products:
Broadband internct : 5,420,100 5.271.000
Video 3,498,000 3,687.400
Fixed-line telephone 4,463,200 4.603,500
Total cable products 13,381,300 13,563,900
Cable products per customer (i) 2.38x 2.46x
Triple play penctration 58.2% 61.8%
Cable ARPU (i) £50.10 £49.39

(i} Lach telephone, television and broadband internet subscriber directly connected to the Virgin Media group’s
network counts as one product. Accordingly, a subscriber who receives both telephone and television scrvices
counts as two products. Products may include subscribers receiving some services for free or at a reduced rate in
connection with promotional offers.

(iiy Cable ARPU is calculated by dividing the average monthly subscription revenue (excluding interconnect
fees, channe! carriage fees and late fees) for the indicated period, by the average of the opening and closing
number of customer relationships for the period.

The total number of cable products fell o 13,381,300 at 31 December 2020 from 13.563.900 at 31 December
2019, representing a net decrease in products of 182,600,

Summary mobile statistics

Selected statistics for the group's mobile customers are shown below:

2020 2019
Postpaid mobile customers (i) 3,223,900 2,915,600
Prepaid mobils customers (i) 134,400 263,900
Total mobile customers 3,358,300 3,179,500
Mobile ARPU (ii) £8.44 £8.98



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Strategic Report
for the year ended 3§ December 2020

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS (continued)

(i} Our mobilc subscriber count represents the number of active subscriber identification module (SIM) cards in
service rather than services provided. For example, if a mobile subscriber has both a data and voice plan on a
smartphone this would equaie to one mobile subscriber. Alternatively, a subscriber who has a voice and data
plan for a mobile handset and a data plan for a laptop (via a dongle) would be counted as two mobile subscribers,
Customers who do not pay a reeurring monthly fee are excluded from our mobile subscriber counts after a 30
day period of inactivity,

(i) Mobile monthly average revenue per user ("Mobile ARPU™) is caleulated by dividing the average monthly
mobile subscription revenue (exciuding sales and late fecs) for the indicated period by the average of the
opening and closing balances of total mobile subseribers in service for the period.

The group added 308.300 posipaid subscribers in 2020. Growth in postpaid subscriptions was offsct by a lower
prepaid base, resulting in an overall increase in the group’s mobile base of 178,800 in 2020.

FINANCING

As of 31 December 2020, the group had £12,776.4 million of financial liabilitics compared with £12,494.8
million as at 31 December 2019. The principal changes to financial liabilities during the year are discussed as
follows:

Trade Receivables Transaction

In May 2020, Virgin Media Trade Receivables Financing ple. a third-party special purpose financing entity, was
created for the purpose of facilitating the offering of certain notes. These notes are collateralized by certain trade
receivables of Virgin Media, creating a variable interest in which Virgin Media is the primary beneficiary and,
accordingly. Virgin Media, and ultimately [iberty Global, are required to conselidate Virgin Media Trade
Receivables Financing pic. The offering of these notes resulted in net proceeds of £2 14 4 million (“the May 2020
procecds’).

Senior Notes Transactions

In June 2020, the group issued 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675.0 miliien. The net proceeds,
together with the May 2020 proceeds were used to redeem in full €460.0 mitlion and $388.7 million outsianding,
principal amount of 2023 senjor notes.

In June 2020, the group issued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250.0 million and
€500.0 million. The net proceeds (rom the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497.0 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 million outstanding
principal amounts of existing 2022 senior notes and (2} for gencral corporate purposes.

The new sceured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing secured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantecs and security granted in favour of'its cxisting sccured notes,

Senior Secured Notes Transactions

In June 2020, the group issued 2030 senior secured notes with principal amounts of $650.0 million and £450.0
million. The net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redecem in full £525.0 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2027 senior secured notes. (2) 1o redeem in full £360.0 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2029 senior sceured neotes and (3) to redeem in full £80.0 million of
the £321.3 million owstanding principal amount of existing 2025 senior secured notes.

In November 2020, the group issued. via a private placement 2030 senior sceured notes with principal amounts
of $263.0 million, £233.0 million and £30.0 million. The net precceds from the issuance of these notes were
used (1) redeem in full £441.3 million outstanding principal amounts of existing 2025 senior secured notes and
(2} for general corporate purposcs,

The new senior secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing senior secured notes and senior secured
credit facility, and subject to certain exceptions. share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of
its existing senior secured notes.
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FINANCING (continued)

Vendor Financing Notes Transactions

In June 2020, Virgin Mcdia Vendor Financing Notes [ Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media l'inancing
Il Compzny) and Virgin Media Vendor Financing Noles IV Designated Activity Company (Virgin Media
Financing 1V Company, and together with Virgin Media Financing 11T Company, the 2020 VM Financing
Companies) were created for the purpose of issuing certain vendor [inancing notes. The 2020 VM Financing
Companies arc third-party special purpose financing cntitics that are not consolidated by Virgin Media or
Liberty Global.

Virgin Media Financing 11I Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts ol £504.0 million
andd £400.0 million. Virgin Media Financing IV Company issued vendor financing notes with principal amounts
of $500.0 million. Lhe net proceeds from the June 2020 Vendor Yinancing Notes were used by the 2020 VM
Financing Companies 1o purchase certain vendor-financed receivables of Virgin Media and its subsidiarics from
previously-existing third-party special purpose financing entities, Virgin Media Reccivables Financing Notes |
Designated Activity Company and Virgin Media Receivables Vinancing Notes 1T Designated Activity Company
(the Original VM Financing Companies) and various other third parties.

Other 2020 Financing Transactions

In September 2020}, in connection with the formation of the UK JV on | Junc 2021, the group cntered into a
$1.300.0 million term loan facitity. At 31 December 2020, the term loan facility is undrawn and only avaitable to
be drawn and utilised upon consummation of the UK JV. Accordingly the group’s unused borrowing capacity at
31 Deeember 2020, excludes the availability of the term loan facility.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

The group is exposed to volatility in its cash flows and carnings resulting from changes in intcrest rates and
foreign currency cxchange rates. The group has entered into various derivative instruments with a number of
counterparlics 10 manage this volatility of its cash flows and earnings.

The group has entered into cross-currency interest rate swaps 10 manage interest rate and foreign exchange rate
currency cxposures resulting from the variable and fixed rates of interest paid on borrowings that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the borrowing entity. Additionally, the group
has entered into interest rate swaps 0 manage interest rate exposures resulting from the variable rates of interest
paid on sterling denominated debt obligations and movements in fair value on certain of its sterling denominated
debt. The group has also entered into forward rate contracts to manage forcign cxchange rate currency exposures
related to certain committed and forecasied purchases. Sec note 21 to the group financial statements for [urther
information on the group’s derivalive instruments.,

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Financial risk management

Details of the finaneial risks and how they are managed are outlined in note 20 to the group financial statements.
The principal financial risks faced by the group are credit risk. interest rate risk, foreign exchange rate risk and
liquidity risk.

Principal non-financial risks

Virgin Media Finance PL.C is a member of the Virgin Media group, which manages the principal non-financial
risks and uncertainties and is headed by Virgin Media Inc. These risks, among others, arc discussed in more
detail in the combined financial statcments of the Virgin Media group. The prineipal non-financial risks include
the following:

¢ ¢conomic and business conditions and industry trends in the United Kingdom (UK) and Ireland;

e« the competitive environment in the broadband internel, cable television and telecommunications
industries in the UK including competitor responses to our products and services;

o fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates:

* instability in global financial markets, including sovereign debt issues in the European Unien (LU} and
related fiscal reforms:
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

consumer disposable income and spending levels. including the availability and amount of individual
consumer debt;

changes in consumer television viewing and broadband internet usage prefercnees and habits:

consumer acceplance of our existing service offcrings, including our broadband internet, cable
television, fixed-line tebephony and mobile and business service offerings, and of new technology,
programming alternatives and other products and services that we may offer in the future;

the group’s ability to manage rapid technological changes;

the group’s ability to maintain or increasc the number of subscriptions to our cable television,
broadband intcraet, fixed-line telephony and mobile serviee offerings and our average revenue per
household;

the group’s ability 1o provide satisfactory customer service, including support for new and evolving
products and services;

the group’s ability to maintain or increase rates to our subscribers or to pass through increased costs to
our subscribers;

the impact of the group’s future [nancial performance, or market conditions gencrally, on the
availability, terms and deployment of capital:

changes in, or failure or inability to comply with, government regulations in the UK and adverse
outcomes {rom regulatory proceedings;

government intervention that impairs the group’s competitive position, including any intervention that
would open the group’s broadband distribution networks 1o competitors and any adverse change in the
group’s accreditations or licenses;

the group’s ability to obtain rcgulatory approval and salisfv other conditions necessury to close
acquisitions and dispositions, and the impact of conditions imposed by competition and other regulatory
authorities in conncction with acquisitions;

the group’s ability to successfully acquire new businesses and, if acquired, to integrate, realise
anticipated cfliciencies from, and implement our business plan with respect to, the businesscs we have
acquired or that we expect 1o acquire;

changes in laws or treaties relating to taxation, or the interpretation thereof, in the UK

changes in laws and govemment regulations that may impact the availability and cost of capital and the
derivative instruments that hedge certain of the group’s financial risks:

the ability of suppliers and vendors (including our third-party wireless network providers under the
group’s MVNO arrangements) to timely deliver quality products, equipment, software. services and

ACCess!

the availability of attractive programming for our video services and the costs associated with such
programming;

uncertainties inherent in the deselopment and integration of new business lines and business strategies:

the group’s ability to adeguately forecast and plan future network requirements. including the costs and
benefits associated with the network extension:
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continued)

s the availability of capital for the acquisition and/or development of elecommunications networks and
services;

+ problems the group may discover post-closing with the operations, including the internal controls and
financial reporting process of businesses we acquire;

» the lcakage of sensitive customer data;

¢  the outcome of any pending or threatened litigation;

s the loss of key emplovees and the availability of qualified personnel;

»  changes in the nature of key strategic relationships with pariners and joint venturers;

* adverse changes in public perception of the “Virgin™ brand, which we and others license from Virgin
Enterprises Limited, and any resulting impacts on the goodwill of customers toward the group: and

*  cvents that are outside of the group’s control, such as political unrest in international markets, terrorist
attacks, malicious human acts. natural disasters, pandemics or cpidemics (such as the coronavirus
(COVID-19}) and other similar events.

Brexit

The UK’s departure from the Furopean Union (EU)Y could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition. results of operations or liquidity. On 23 June 2016, the UK held a referendum in which
voters approved, on an advisory basis, an exit from the EU. commonly referred to as “Brexit™.

The UK formally exited the EU on 31 January 2020. On 24 December 2020, the UK and the EU reached the
“Trade and Cooperation Agreement,” referred to as the EU-UK Agreement. On 30 December 2020, the EU-UK
Agreement was approved by the UK Parliament, with retrospective ratification from the EU Parliament expected
to follow in 2021,

In the meantime, the EU-UK Agreement has been provisionally brought into cffect. The EU-UK Agreement
focuses on [our main sectors, namely trade, economic and social cooperation. sceurity and governance.

Examples of the potential impact Brexit could have on our business, financial condition or results of operalions
include:

e changes in forcign currency exchange rates and disruptions in the capital markets;

e shortages of labour necessary to conduct our business. including our nctwork cxtension in
the UK;

+  disruption to our UK supply chain and related increased cost of supplies;

¢ aweakened UK economy resulting in decreased consumer demand for our products and services in the
UK;

s legal uncertainly and potentially divergent national laws and regulations as the UK delermines
which hU laws and directives to replace or replicate, or where previously implemented by
enactment of UK laws or regulations, to retain, amend or repeal; and

¢ various geopolitical forces may mpact the global cconomy and our business, including, for
cxample, other EU member states {(in  particular those member stales where we  have
operalions) proposing referendums to, or electing to. exit the ELL
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES (continned)
COVID-19

In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared COVID-19 to be a global pandemic. In response to the
COVID-19 pandemic, emergeney measures have been imposed by governments worldwide, including travel
restrictions, restrictions on social activity and the shutdown of non-essential businesses.

The global COVID-19 pandemic continues to adversely impact the economies of the countries in which we
operate. However, during the first quarter of 2021, the adverse impact on our company continucd to be relatively
minimal as demand for our products and services remained strong.

It is not currently possible to estimate the duration and severity of the COVID-19 pandemic or the adverse
cconomic impact resulting from the preventative measures taken to contain or mitigate its outbreak, therefore no
assurance can be given that an extended period of global economic disruption would not have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations in future periods.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

The directors wili continue 10 review management policies in light of changing trading and market conditions.
Iurther detail of the future outlook of the group, is provided in the combined financial statements of the Virgin
Media Group for 2020, which are available from the company secretary at Virgin Media. 500 Brook Drive,
Reading, United Kingdom. RG2 6UU and on Liberty Global's website at www libertyglobal.com.

SECTION 172 STATEMENT

This statement is intended to disclose how our directors have approached and met their responsibilities under
s172 Companics Act 2006,

In line with Liberty Global's goal of enhancing the long-term value for the benefit of its sharcholders, the
directors of the Virgin Media oversee the manapement of the group, to help assure that the interests of our
sharcholders are served,

The directors of the group. apply the Corporate Governance Guidelines (page 11), essential to our business
integrity and performance. Therefore, as part of group operations as a whole consider:

s long-term consequences of decisions;

«  employees’ interests;

¢  husiness relationships with suppliers and customers;

¢ the impact of our operations on the environment and communities in which we operate: and
¢ the need to act fairly between sharcholders.

The level of engagement of the directors is critical in the group’s successful investment in the infrastructure and
platforms that empower our customers to make the most of the digital revoelution and connect o the
entertainment, experiences and people they love. We believe that our scale and synergies with our partners help
bring the best connectivity and entertainment to our customers and, during 2020, the directors provided
thoughtful guidance to ensure that we enhanced and expanded our networks wisely, investing with purpose in
the technology, talent and territories with the most potential.

Customers/Partnerships — Virgin Media provides its customers with a leading, nexi-generation broadband
service, one of the most advanced interactive television services available in the UK market and mobile services.
We believe our relationships with our parners help us deliver unique products and serviees 10 our customers.
The continued strategic involvement by the directors in these decisions to help foster these relationships is
critical to the group’s long term success.

10
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SECTTON 172 STATEMENT {(continued)

Responsibility — Community, Environment & Suppliers — As part ol Virgin Media’s strategy. we are
committed to growing a responsible and sustainable business. Qur vision of using digital to make good things
happen focuses on two pillars: growing responsibly and sustainably and doing more good with digital, As
outlined in the Directors’ Report. we have outlined five sustainability goals to ensure that our growth and
contribution to the UK is delivered in a way that’s good for peeple and the environment.

People - At Virgin Media, we know building an mclusive environment is essential to our growth. We're working,
on building a {ully inclusive culture, celebrating everybody’s individuality and differences. We want to empower
our people, so they feel valued, limitless and inspired (o help build meaningful connections. The Directors’
Repoert provides further information on Virgin Media’s policy on employment and disabled employees.

Consideration of these factors and other relevant matters is embedded into all Virgin Media group decision-
making, strategy development and risk assessment throughout the year. Further information is available on our
website: hitps://Awww.virginmedia.com/corporate/sustainability and in the consolidated accounts of Liberty

Gilobal ple which arc available on Liberty Global’s website al www libertyglobal.com.

On behalf of the board

G-

L Milner
Director

28 June 2021
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The directors present their report and the audited financial statements for the group and company for the year
ended 31 December 2020,

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The group madce a profit for the year, afler tax, of £661.2 million (2019: £577.1 million). The directors have not
recommended the payment of a dividend (2019: £nil).

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS

The directors who served during the year and therealler were as follows:
W T Castell (resigned 9 March 2020)

M T Fries (resigned 1 June 2021)

M O Hitz

R G McNeil (appointed 9 March 2020)

L Milner (appointed 1 March 2021)

§-P Pascu (appointed 3 March 2020, resigned 16 November 2020)

C B E Withers (appointed 23 April 2020}

The directors of the company have been indemnified against liability In respect of proceedings brought by third
partics, subject to the cenditions set out in the Companics Act 2006. Such qualifying third party indemnity
provision is in force for directors sening during the financial year and as at the date of approving the Directors’
Report.

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES

The group remains commitied to the continuing introduction and practice of progressive employment policies
which reflect changing business, social and employee needs.

The group aims to ensure that everyone connected to it is treated fairly and equally, whether they are a current or
former member of staff, job appticant, customer or supplicr.

Nobody should be discriminatcd against, cither directly or indirceily, on the grounds of gender, gender
reassignment, marital status, prepnancy, race, ethnic origin, colour, natienalily, national origin, disability, sexual
orientation, religion or belief, age, political affiliation or trade union membership. The policy applics to anyone
who works fer, who has worked for or who applies to work for Virgin Media or its partners. That means
permanent, temporary, ¢asual or parl-time staff, anyvone on a fixed-term contract, agency staff’ and consultants
working with the group. ex-employees and people applying for jobs. This applics to all aspects of employment,
including recruitment and training.

The group gives fuli consideration to applications from employees with disahilities where they can adequately
fulfil the requirements of the job. Depending on their skills and abilitics, employees with a disability have the
same opportunities for promotion, career development and training as other employees. Where cxisting
employees become disabled, it is the group’s policy to provide continuing employment wherever practicable in
the same or an alternatisve position and to provide appropriate training to achicve this aim.

In line with Liberty Global's *Code of Business Conduct’ (the “Code™), the group’s employvees and directors are
expected to display responsible and cthical behaviour, to follow consistently both the meaning and intent of this
Code and to act with integrity in all of the group’s business dealings. Managers and supervisors are expected o
take such action as is necessary and appropriate to ensure that the group’s business processes and practices are in
full compliance with the Code.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020

EMPLOYMENT POLICIES AND DISABLED EMPLOYEES (continued)

Employee Involvement
The group is dedicated 1o increasing the practical involvement of individuals in the running of its business. 1t
seeks to achieve this as follows:

e all employcees are encouraged w understand the aims of the group and of their own business area and (o
contribute to improving business performance through their knowledge, experience, ideas and
supgestions. This requires strong communication to ensure that emplovees are briefed as widely as
possible about activitics and developments across Virgin Media. The online news channel, open
forums, newsletters and team meetings play important roles in this. as do the devclopment of people
management skills and the ongoing conversations about performance and development which underpin
performanee conversations;

e the group cnsurcs that atl employees are involved and consulted through “Voice™ which operates at a
national, divisional and local level. It enables employces and cmployers to have an open and transparent
relationship with a flow of information. It is focused around sharing informatien, inveolving emplovees
in decision making. gaining access to knowledge and experience or resolving dilterences of opinion.
[nvolving employees in decision making enhances confidence and job satisfaction, creates a sense of
belonging and empowerment, reduces stress and impacts positively on wellbeing.

The group fosiers a team spirit among employees and their greater involvement by offering participation in
bonus or local variable reward schemes and team development opportunitics. Virgin Media also operates various
recognition schemes which are designed to reward employecs for behaviours which are consistent with the
Virgin Mcdia values and has a volunteering scheme which allows cmployees to take five days cach vear o
volunteer with registered charitics or organisations of their cholce.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES

Corporate Responsibility and Sustainability

Virgin Media has a comprehensive [ive year sustainability strategy in place which sets out how we will support
and connect communities across the UK, reduce our impact on the environment and continue to become a more
inclusive company.

Cur strategy is called the ‘“Meaningful Connections Plan” and we have set far-reaching goals across three key
arcas: people, the planet and communities.

People

Virgin Media will ereate new opportunities for hundreds of people from underrepresented communities so they
can acecss skills and emplovment. This includes women in STEM, disabled people, people from LGBTQ+,
underrepresented ethnicities, neurodiverse and other communities with low social equity,

Planct
Virgin Mcedia has set goals to achieve net zero carbon operations (Scopes 1 and 2) and zero waste operations by
the end of 2025,

This will be achieved via energy elliciency measures, cutting emissions, sourcing renewable power supply and
reducing waste by increasing reuse materials across our products and operations.

Communities
Virgin Media will use its connectivity and presence in towns and cities nationwide to support projects which
create 1.5 million meaningful connections to create greater community belonging.

Virgin Media has also begun a five year strategic partnership with the charity, Carers UK, which will use
technology and innosyation 1o address the loneliness experienced by eight out of ten unpaid carers, and will work

together to connect more carers to each other and o their communities.

The company and group made no political contributions during the financial year that would require disclosure
(2019 - £nil).
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SUSTAINABILITY POLICIES (centinued)

A member of Virgin Media's Executive Committee Is responsible for cach of the three kev arcas of the
Meaningful Connections Plan. The strategy has been developed by Virgin Media’s Sustainability team which
annually reporis progress being made against long-term goals.

Throughout 2020. Virgin Media continucd to make progress on social and environmental goals, highlights
include:

e Since 2018, 1,204,427 disabled people have accessed the Suppors to Work employment service -
funded by Virgin Media and our previous charity partner, Scope. This has helped disabled people to
gain the skills and confidence to get and stay in work:

¢ Since 2019, Virgin Media’s operational carbon footprint (Scope 1&2) has reduced by 79 across UK
and Ircland and 46% against our previous 2014 baseline;

+  Also delivered a 13% reduction in scope 3 emissions since 2019 baseline; and

e Virgin Media continues to source 100% ol clectricity from renewable sources as a member of the
RE100 initiative and in November 2020 became a founding sighatory of the Media Climate Pact. In
addition, Virgin Mcdia also achieved zero waste 1o landfill across all site based and logistics operations.

Virgin - Media  communicates  regularly  updates  on performance  and  key  bighlights  via
www virginmedia.com/sustainability.

GOING CONCERN

As Virgin Media Finanee PLC is either a direct or indirect parent of all of the trading companies in the Virgin
Media group, these consolidated financial statements include substantially all of the trade and assets of the
overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of reasonably possible changes
in trading performance, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have heen
prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole, These forecasts and projections showed that cash on hand,
together with cash {rom operations and the undrawn revolving credit facility, are expected o be sufficient for the
Virgin Media group's and hence the group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months from the date of
this report.

Taking into decount these forecasts and projections and after making enquiries. the directors have a reasonable
expectation the group has adequate support and resources to continue in operational existence for at least 12
months {rom the date of the signing of these financial statcments.

For these reasons the directlors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these linancial statements.
Consideration ol the engeing impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conelusion.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

‘The group is commiited to conducting business with honesty, integrity and respect. Corporate governance affects
the way the group directs its relationship with its stakeholders. The group believes that the highest standards of
corporate governance dre essential (o the group’s business integrity and perfurmance. The group has adopted a
number of policies and procedures 1o support solid corporate governance in every arca of the group’s operations.

Corporate Governance Guidelines adopted by Liberty Global ple’s Board of Directors serve as a framework for
Board povernance over the alfairs of the group for the benelit of its sharcholders, These include Code of
Business Conduct, Code of Ethics, Audit Committee Charter, Compensation Committee Charter, Nominating
and Corporate GGovernance Committee Charter and Succession Planning Committee Charter.

Further information on Corporate Governance is available to the public on Liberty Global's website at
www libertyvglobal.com/or under the heading “Corporate Responsibility™. The information on the website is not
part of this report.



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Directors’ Report
for the year ended 31 December 2020

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Disposal of investments in subsidiaries

On 4 March 2021, as part of a wider group restructure, the group disposed of its investments in Cullen
Broadcasting 1.imited and Tullamore Beta Limited.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO THE AUDITOR

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is awarc, there is no relevant audit
information, being information required by the auditor in connection with preparing its report. of which the
auditor is unaware. Having made enguiries of feliow directors and the group's auditor, each direcior has taken
all the steps that he/she (5 obliged o take as a diteclor in order 10 make himself7herself aware ot any relevant
audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information.

AUDITOR

KPMG LLP will be re-appointed under scetion 487(2} of the Companies Act 2006.

‘This report was approved by the board on - 28 June 2021 and signed on its behalf

Oy d s

C B E Withers
Dircetor
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Virgin Media Finance PLC

Statement of Directers’ Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Directors’ Report and
Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2020

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group and parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company lasw requires the directors to prepare Group and parent Company linancial statements for cach
financial year. Under that the law they arc required to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformily with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and
applicable law and they have clected to prepare the parent Company financial statements in accordance with UK
accounting standards and applicable, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework.

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisficd that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and parent Company and of their profit or loss for
that period. In preparing each of the Group and Parent company financial statements, the dircetors are required
10:

¢ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
¢  make judgements and cstimates that arc reasonable, relevant, reliable and prudent;

s for the Group financial statements, statc whether they have been prepared in accordance with international
accounling standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006,

s for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been
followed, subjeet to any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

s assess the Group and parent Company’s ability o continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern: and

+ use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend tw liquidate the Group or the parent
Company or (o cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
parent Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
parent Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.
They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
linancial statcrnents that are frec from material misstatement, whether due 10 fraud or crror, and have gencral
responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open 1o them to salcguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularitics.

Under applicable law and regulations, the directors are also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report and a
Dircctors” Report that complies with that law and those regulations.

The directors arc respensible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the company’s website.  [Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of
financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
1 Our opinion is unmodihed

We have audited the financial statemenis of Virgin Media Finance ple ("the Company™) for the year ended 31
December 2020, which comprise the group income statement and statement of comprehensive income, group
balance sheet, group statement of changes of equity, group cash [low statement, company balance sheet,
company statcment of changes in equity, and the relaled notes, including the accounting policics in note 2 in the
consolidated financial statements and note 2 in the company financial statements.

[n our opinion:

e the [inancial statements give a true and [air view ol the state of the Group’s and of the parent Compans’s
alfairs as at December 31, 2020 and of the Group’s profit for the vear then ended;

e the group linancial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

o e purenl Company [nancial staements have been properly prepared m accordance with UK accounting
standards, including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework; and

» the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the reguirements of the Companics Act
2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("ISAs (UK)™) and
applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under,
and arc independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied 10 listed entities. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufTicient and
appropriale basis for our opinion.

2 Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key andit matiers are those matiers that. In our professional judgment. were of most significance in the audit of
the financial statements and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not
duc to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on: the overall audit stratcgy; the
allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the cngagement team. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. [n arciving at our audit opinion above, the key audit
matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, were as follows:

Group: Capitalization of costs associated with construction and installation activities

The risk  Crverstatement of profits:

Certain internal and external labour and overhead costs incurred are capitaliced as part of Property and
equipment (part of which is included within its the net book value of £5,647m (2019: £6.098m)). Thesc
capitalized cosls are associated with the capital projects undertaken by the group and involve estimation of the
amount of time and costs that should be capitalised. The most signilicant risk is that the group may
inappropriately capitalize construction and installation costs. The key risks in determining if construction and
installation costs gualify for recognition as an assct, include whether the costs are directly attributable to
bringing the asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the group; it is probable that future economic benelits associated with the item will flow to the group, and if
the cost can be measured reliably.

17



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC

Group: Capitalization of costs associated with construction and installation activities (continued)

Qur response

Our procedures included:

Conirol operations - We evaluated the design and implementation of key internal contrels in place to identify
which construction and instatlation costs should be capitalized. and tested their operating effectiveness.

Personne! interviews - We challenged the amount of internal costs capitalized during the year by comparing to
budgets, interviewing department heads to determine the level of time individuals have spent on capital items,
and analysed the changes to signilicant estimates utilized by the group to determine the amount of internal costs
to be capitalized (if any), and other changes in the business with a potential impact on cost capitalization during
the year.

Tests of details - For both intemmal and external costs capitalised we selected a sample of property and equipment

additions on costs capitalized and assessed the nature of the costs based on underlying internal and third party
documentation therehy assessing the appropriateness of the group's cost capitalization conclusions.

Parent Company: Recoverability of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries

The risk - low risk’high value:

‘The carrying amount of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries ol £4,699.4m (2019: £4,699.4m) represents
70.4% of the company s total assets. Their recoverability is not at a high risk of significant misstatement or
subject to significant judgment. Flowever, due to their matertality in the context of the financial siatements, this
is considered to be the area that had the greatest ¢ffect on our overall audit of the parent company.

Our response

OQur procedurces included:

Tests of detail: We compared the carrying amount of material investments with the relevant subsidiaries” balance
sheet 1o identify whether their net asscts, being an approximation of their minimum recoverable amount, were in
excess of their carrying amount and assessing whether these subsidiarics have historically been profit-making.

Assessing subsidiary audits: We assessed the work performed by the subsidiary audit teams of those subsidiaries
where audits are performed and considered the results of that work on those subsidiaries” profits and net assets.

3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the group financial statements as a whole was sct at £47.9m (2019: £51.6m), determined with
reference to a benchmark of revenue adjusted for discontinued operations of £4,790.3m (2019: £5.168m) of
which it represents 1.0% (2G19: 1.0%). We consider revenue to be the most appropriate benchmark as it provides
amore stable measure year on year than group profit before tax.

Materiality for the parent company financial statements as a whole was set at £33.4m (2019: £51.0m).
determined with reference to a benchmark of Company total assets, of which it represents G.5% (2019: (.8%).

In line with our audit methodology. our procedures on individual account balances and disclosures were
performed o a lower threshold, performance materiality. so as to reduce to an acceptable fevel the risk that
individually immaterial misstatements in individual account balances add up to a material amount across the
financial statements as a whole,

Performance materiality was set at 75% (2019: 75%) of materiality for the financial statements as a whole,
which cquates (o £35.9m (2019: £38.8m) for the group and £25.1m (2019 £38.3mj for the parent company. We
applied this percentage in our determination of performance materiality because we did not identify any factors
indicating an elevated level of risk.



Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
3 Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit (continued)

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected identificd misstatements exceeding
£2.4m in addition to other identificd misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

‘The Group team performed the audit of the Group as if it was a single aggregated set of financial information.
The audit was perlormed using the materiality and performance maiteriality level set out above.

4 Going Concern

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to
liquidate the Company or the Group or to ccasc their operations. and as they have coneluded that the Company’s
and the Group’s financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no
wraterial uneerlainties thal could have cast significant doubt over thewr abiiity Lo continue as a geing concern for
at lcast a year from the date of approval of the financial statements (“the going concern peried™).

We used our knowledge of the Group and Company. its industry, and the general economic environment to
identify the inherent risks to its business model and analysed how thosc risks might affect the Group’s and
Company’s financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. The risks that we
considered most likely 1o adversely affect the Group and Company s available financial resources and/or metrics
rclevant to debt covenants over this period were:

- Ability to continuc te perform and provide services under the lockdowns in the UK and Treland, as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic
- Current levels of debt driven by Vendor I'inancing arrangements

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the liquidity or covenant compliance in the going
concern period by assessing the Dircetors” sensitivities over the level of available financial resources and
covenant thresholds indicated by the Group and Company’s finaneial forecasts taking account of severe, but
plausible adverse effects that could arise from these risks individually and collectively.

We considered whether the going concern disclosure in note 2 to the financial statements gives a full and
accurate description of the Directors” assessment of going concern, including the identified risks and related
sensitivitics,

QOur conclusions based on this work:

. we consider that the Directors” use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the
inancial statcments is appropriate;

. we have not identified, and concur with the Irectors” assessment that there is not, a material
uncertainty related 1o cvenlts or conditions that, individually or colleetively, may cast significant doubt
on the Group or Company's ability Lo continuc as a going concern for the going concern period;

. we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the [rectors’ statement in note 2 1o
the financial statements on the usc of the going concern basis of accounting with no material
uncertainties that may cast signiticant doubt over the Group and Company’s usc of that basis for the
going concern period, and we [ound the going concern disclosure in note 2 Lo be aceeptable.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subscquent events may result in outcomes
that arc inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are
not a guarantee that the Group and Company will continue in operation.

5 Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks™) we assessed events or conditions that

could indicatc an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk
assessment procedures included:
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
5 Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)
. Enquiring of directors and management as to the Group high-level policies and procedures to preyvent

and detect fraud, including the internal audit function, and the Group channel for “whistleblowing”, as
well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud;

. Reading Board minutes;

. Considering remuncration incentive schemes and perlormance targets for management/ direclors;

. Using analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships;

. Using our own forensic specialists to assist us in identifying fraud risks based on discussions of the

circumstances of the Group

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alest 10 any indications of fraud
throughout the audit. This included communication from the group to component audit teams of relevant fraud
risks fdentified at the Group level and request to component audit teams to report 10 the Group audit team any
instances of fraud that could gise risc to a material misstalement at group.

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures o meet profit targets, we perform
procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in particular the risk that Group and
component management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias in
accounting cstimates and judgements such as impairment. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk
relaied to revenue recognition because of the straight-forward recognition of cable revenue over time. and the
fow value nature of the individual revenue transactions.

We also identified a fraud risk related to inappropriate capitalisation of external and internal costs in responsc to
possible pressures 1o meet profit targets. Further detail in respect of the inappropriate capitalization of external
and internal costs is set out in the key audit matter disclosures in section 2 of this report.

In determining the audit procedures, we took into account the results of our cvaluation and testing of the
operating effectiveness of the Group-wide fraud risk management controls.

We also performed procedures including:

. [dentifving journal entries to test for all full scope components based on risk criteria and comparing the
identified entries to supporting documentation. These included thosc posted by senior {inance
management, those posted and approved by the same uscr and those posted 10 unusual accounts

. Evaluated the business purpose of significant unusual transactions

. Assessing significant accounting cstimates for bias

Hdentifving and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and
regulations

We identified arcas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expecied to have a material effect on the
financial statements from our general commercial and sector expericnce, and through discussion with the
directors and other management (as required by auditing standards). and from inspection of the Group's
regulatory and legal correspondence and discussed with the directors and other management the policies and
procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulations.

As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control environment
including the entity "s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indicatiens of
non-compliance throughout the audit. This included communication from the group to component audit teams of
relevant Jaws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request for component audilors to report o the
group team any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations that could give rise o a material
misstalement at group.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial stalements varies considerably .
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5 Fraund and breaches of 1aws and regulations — ability to detect (continued)

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statcments including
financial reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation
legislation and we assessed the extent of compfiance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on
the refated financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance
could have a material offect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the
imposition of fines or litigation or the loss of the Group’s license to operate. We identified the following areas
as those most likely to have such an cffeet: data and privacy law reflecting the growing amount of personal dala
held and competition and markets regulation, recognising the nature of the Group's activities. Auditing standards
limit the required andit procedures to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the
directors and other management and inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, i any. Therefore, 1l a
breach of operational regulations is not disclosed 1o us or evident {rom relevant correspondence, an audit will not
detect that breach.

We discussed with the audit committee matters related to actual or suspected breaches ol laws or regulations, for
which disclosure is not necessary, and considered any implications for our audit.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit. there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planred and performed our
audit in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently
limited procedures required by auditing standards would identify it

[n addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve
collusion, [orgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit
procedurcs are desipned to detecl material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance
or fraud and cannat be expected 1o detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

6 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The directors arc responsible for the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the financial
statements.  Qur opinion on the financial statements docs not cover the other information and, accordingly, we
do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstaled or inconsistent with the financial
staternents or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material misstatements in
the other information.

Strategic report and Directors’ report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

* we have not identificd material misstalements in the Strategic report and the Directors” report;

* in our opinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial
stalements; and

®  inour opinion thosc reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Virgin Media Finance PLC
7 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Under the Companies Act 2006, we are required 1o repen to you if, in our epinion:

* adequate accounting records have not bzen kepi by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit
hay ¢ not been received from branches not visited by us; or

e the parcnt Company financial statemenls are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
certain disclosures of direciors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.
8 Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 16, the directors are responsible for: the preparation of
the financial statements including being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial stalements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent Company’s ability to continuc as a going congern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern: and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the {inancial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and {o issue our opinion in an auditor’s report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with 1SAs (1JK) will always deteel a material misstatcment when it exists. Missiatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considercd material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the cconomic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller  description  of  our responsibilities is provided on  the FRC's  website  at
www.fre.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

9 The purpose of our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members. as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the
Companies Act 2006. Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members
those matters we arc required to stale to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest
extent permitted by law. we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company ’s members, as a body, for our audit work, for this report, er for the epinions we have formed.

Antony Whittle (Senior Statutory Auditer)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditer
Chartered Accountants

1 81 Peter’s Square

Manchester

M2 3AL

29 June 2021

22



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2020

Restated*
2020 2019
Notes £ millien £ million
Revenue 3 4.790.3 4.835.7
Cost of' sales (1,650.6)  (1,638.5)
Grass profit 3,139.7 3,197.2
Administrative expenses (2,818.2) (2.139.7)
Group operating profit 4 321.5 1.037.5
Finance income 7 457.6 187.2
Finance costs 8 (V68.5}) (884.2)
Net finance costs (510.9) (397.0)
(Loss)/profit before tax (189.4) 640.5
Income tax benefit/(expense) G 173.7 {103.0)
(Loss)/profit for the year from continuing operations (15.7) 537.3
Profit from discontinued operation (atiributable to equity holders of
the company) 22 676.9 39.6
Profit for the year 661.2 577.1
Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension plans 28 5.6 (7.2)
Tax (expense)/benefit on defined benefit pension plans 9 0.9y 1.0
4.7 (6.2)
Ttems that will or may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Impact of movements in cash llow hedges 21 4.7 5.4
Ixchange differences on the retranslation of {oreign operations (11.9%) 18.2
(7.2} 23.6
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to equity
holders 658.7 594.5
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 645.9 575.8
Non-controlling intercsts 12.8 18.7
658.7 594.5

The notes on pages 27 to 77 form part of the financial statements.

*0On 30 November 2020, the group sold its Irish subsidiary UPPC Broadband Ireland Limited to another
subsidiary of Liberty Global that is outside of the Virgin Media Group. This has been reported as a discentinued
operation (see note 22) and the prior year comparative information has been restated accordingly.
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Virgin Media Finapce PLC
Group Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment
Financial asscts

Trade and other receivables
Deferred tax assets

Defined benefit pension plan asset

Current assets

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables
Inventorics

Cash and cash cquivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
‘Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Provisions

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liahilities
Provisions

Lyefined benefit pension plan liability

Total liabilities
Net assets

Capital and reserves

[iquity share capital

Share premium account

Other capilal reserves

Unrealised gains and losses

Foreign currency translation reserve
Retained earnings

Virgin Media Finance PLC group sharehelders’ equity

Non-controlling interests
Total equity

The notes on pages 27 to 77 form part of the financial statements.

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 28

L Milner
Director

Company Registration Number: 03061787

Notes

10
11
12
13

28

12
13
14
15

16
17
19

16
17
19
28

23,23

[N 8 ]
hoth th

31 December

31 December

2020 2019
£ million £ million
22393 24443
5.647.0 6,098.0
6,234.0 54229
718 36.3
1.718.1 1,544.2
92.4 86.4
16.002.6 15,6321
752.5 82.5
603.3 650.9
434 54.6
19.3 339
} 14185 821.9
17.421.1 16,4540
(1,689.6) (1,591.9)
(2,152.9) (2.031.3)
27 (36
(3.8452) (3,626.8)
(21.5) 26.8)
(10.623.5) (10,463.5)
(68.1) (124.9)
- (7.9
(10,713.1)  (10.623.1)
{14,3558.3) {14.339.9)
2,862.8 22040
0.1 0.1
625.9 £25.9
(2,093.6) (2,093.6)
154 10.7
7.4 293
42259 3,572.8
2.791.1 21452
71.7 58.9
25628 2.204.1

Junie 2021 and are signed on their behalf by
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Group Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Operating activities

Profit for the year

Profit from discontinued operations

(L.oss)/profit before income tax including discontinued operations

Adjustments 10 reconcie profit for the year attributable ta equaty halders of

the parent to net cash iflow from aperating activities
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Amoriisation of intangible assets

[mpaimment o netwark asscts

Net finance costs

Share-based payments

[ncome taxes

Gains on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Gam on disposal of discontinued operations

Unrealised losses on derivative instruments

Non-cash foreign exchange movements

Decrease in trade and other receivables

Increase in inventorics

(Increase) in prepayments and other assets
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables

Increase in aceruals, deferred income and other current liabilities
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income and other long term liabilitics
(Decrease) 1n provisions

Net cash inflow provided by continuing operating activitics
Net cash inflow from discontinued operating activities

Net cash inflow from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property. plant and equipment

Loans 1o parent and group undertakings

{(l.osses)/procecds on sale of properiy. plant and equipment
Proceeds on sale of discontinued operations

Change in restricted cash

Interest received

Net cash outflow from continuwing investing activities
Net cash outflow from discontinued investing actis ities
Net cash outflow from investing activities

Financing activities

Interest paid

Settlement of cross currency interest rate swaps

New borrowings, net of financing fees

Repayment of borrowings

Capital lease payments

Net cash outflow from continuing financing activities
Net cash outflow from discontinued financing activities
Net cash outflow from financing activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash cquivalents

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash cquivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at | January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 27 to 77 form part of the financial statements.

Restated

2020 2019

Notes £ million £ million
661.2 5771

2 _(6769) (39.6)
5T 5375

11 088.1 983 4
19 174.5 1931
. (464.6)

4172 5482

474 42.0

187.3) 122.7

(12) (33)

(668.5) -

2272 180.9

{142.2) (140.9)

17.2 168.9

80 6.6

{(43.7) (19.3)

20.1 (14.9)

146.3 2315

(52) 16.1

(59.5) (14)

10227 23865

734.7 781
17574 24646
(401 8) (400.9)

(896.5) (434.9)

(0.3) 22

22 478 8 .
177 (165

277.1 2842

(560.4) (575.9)

24.1) (27.2)

(584.5) (603.1)

(354.4) (619.7)

1302 87.4

5.851.0 39757

(6,570 4) (5.238.1)

(42.3) (43.6)

(1.186.1) (1,840 3]

o (55) 2.1
(1,191.6) (1,842.4)

41 (1.4

(14.6) 17.7
15339 16.2
15 19.3 339




Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

Authorisation of financial statements and statement of compliance with [FRS

The consolidated financial staiements of Virgin Media Finance PLC for the year ended 31 December 2020 were
authorised for issue by the board of dircctors on June 2021 and the Group Balance Sheet was signed on the
board’s behalf by [. Milner. Virgin Media Finance PL.C is a public limiled company incorporated and domiciled
in the UK. The company’s shares are not publicly traded although the Senior Notes issued by the company arc
registered on The International Stock xchange in Guernsey.

Accounting policies

The principal accounting policies adopted by the group are set out below and have all been applied consistently
throughout the current year and the preceding vear cxcept as discussed below.

Basis of preparation
These financial stalements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting Standards (“TFRS™).

In accordance with IFRS 5 “non-current assts held for sate and discontinued operations’, the comparative profit
and loss account has been re-presented so that the disclosures in relation to discentinued operations relate to all
operations that have been discontinued by the balance sheet date (see note 22).

A discontinued operation is a component of the group that has been disposed of or is classified as held
for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical arca of operations, is
parl of a single co-ordinated plan o disposc of such a linc of business or area of operations, or is a
subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view 1o resale. The resuhs of discontinued operations arc
presented separately in the statement of profit or loss

Going concern

Notwithstanding net current liabilities of £2.426.7 million as al 31 December 2020 for the group and & profit for
the group for the year of £661.2 million, the financial statements have been approved on the assumption that the
group remains a going concern. The following paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have
rcached their conclusion.

Tt is Virgin Media’s practice for operational and f{inancial management to be undertaken at a group level rather
than for individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for
all of Liberty Global’s wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of
normal business practice, regular cash flow {orecasts for both short and long temm commitments are undertaken
al group level.

As Virgin Media Finance PLC is either a direct or indircet parent of substantially all of the trading companies in
the Virgin Media group, these consolidated Nnancial statements include substantially all of the trade and asscls
of the overall Virgin Media group. Whilst forecasts and projections, which take account of rcasonably possible
changes in trading performarce, have not been prepared at a Virgin Media Finance PLC group level, they have
been prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole. These indicate that cash on hand, together with cash from
operations, repayment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the 1.iberty Global group and undrawn revolving
credit [acilitics, arc expected to be sufficient for the Group’s cash requirements through to at least 12 months
from the approval of these financial statements. In addition, Virgin Media Inc. has formally indicated its
intention o continue to support the company financiallv for at least this period,

Whilst the detailed cash flow forceasts arc prepared at the group level. the dircetors have also assessed the
position of the company. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £3,131.1 million as at 31 Dceember 2020, this
assessment indicates that, taking account of reasonably possible downsides, the company will have sufficient
resources. through funding from fellow subsidiary companies o mect its liabilities as they fall due for that
period.

As with any company placing reliance en other group entitics for financial support. the dircetors acknowledge
that there can be ne certainty that this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have ne reason to believe that it will not do so. Consequently, the direetors are confident that
the company will have sufficient funds to continue to meet its liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months
from the date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a geing
concern basis. Consideration of the ongoing impact of COVID-19 and the Contribution Agreement {referred to
in note 32) has not altered this conclusion,
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Variable interest entities

On 30 November 2018, in connection with certain Liberty Global group reorganisations, the group completed
the transter of Liberty Property foldco [ Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo IT Limited from the group fo
Liberty Property Holdeo 11 Limited, another subsidiary of Liberty Global group outside of Virgin Media group.
Liberty Property Holdeo 1 Limited, Liberty Property Holdeo LI Limited and Liberty Property Holdeo 1T are
collectively referred to as “the Liberty Property Companies.” The asscts held by the Liberty Property
Companies are used by the group creating a variable interest in the Liberty Property Companies for which the
group is the primary bencficiary and, accordingly, the group is required to consolidate the Liberty Property
Companies.

Following the completion of the joint venture with Echo Bideo SARL, the Liberty Property Companics witl no
longer be consolidated in the group financial statements of Virgin Media Finance P1L.C (sce note 32).

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

The preparation of financial statements requircs managemeni to make cstimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported for asscés and fiabilitics as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for revenues
and cxpenses during the vear. The nature of estimation means that actual outcomes could differ from those
estimates.

‘The most signiticant judgements and estimations used by management in the process of applying the group's
accounting policics are discussed below:

Impairment of intangible assets
Goodwill and intangible assels with indefinite lives are assessed for impairment annually and when such
indicators exist,

When value in use calewlations are undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-gencrating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order 1o caloulate the present value of
these cash flows, Where fair value less cost o sell is used, the valuation must represent the fair value of the
cash-generating unit in an orderly transaction between market participants under current market conditions, less
costs to sell.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred 1ax asscts are recognised for unused tax losses and allowances to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant judgement is required to
determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and the level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning strategics.

Details of the measurement of the group’s deterred tax asset recognition and measurement are provided in note
9.

Property. planf and equipment

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than freehold land. on a straight-line basis
at rates calculated to write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated uscful
life. The estimation of an assets useful economic life has a significani effect on the annual depreciation charge.
The uscful life and carrving values are reviewed annually for Impairment and where adjustments are required.
these are made prospectively.

The nature and amount of labour and other costs to be capitalised with respect to construction and installation
activilies involves significant judgement. In addition to direct external and internal labour and materials, the
group also capitalises other costs directly attributable to the group™s construction and installation activities,
including dispatch costs, qualitv-control costs. vehicle-related costs and certain warchouse-related costs. The
capilalisation of these costs is based on time sheets, time studies, standard costs, call tracking systems and other
verifiable means that directly link the costs incurred with the applicable capitalisable activity. The group
continuously monitors the appropriateness of its capitalisation policies and updaic the policies when necessary
to respond te changes in facts and circumstances. such as the development of new products and services, and
changes in the manner that installations or construction activitics are performed.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation technigues to deterniine the fair value of [inancial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions
consistent with how markel participants would price the instrument.

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Management bases its assumptions on obscrvable data as {ar as possible but this is not always available, In that
case management uses the best information available. Estimated fair values may vary from the actual prices that
would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 21).

Busis of consolidaiion

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group conirols an cntity when it is exposed to. or has
rights Lo, variable returns {rom its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
ity power over the entity. In assessing control, the group takes into consideration potential voting rights. The
acquisition date is the date on which control is transferred to the acquirer. The financial statements of
subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Losses applicable to the non-controlling interests in a subsidiary are allocated to the
nen-controlling interests even if doing so causcs the non-controlling interests to have a deficit balance.

Business combinations under common control

Business combinations between entities that are under common control are accounted for at book value. The
assets and liabilities acquired or transferred are recognised or derecognised at the carrying amounts previously
recognised in the group controlling sharcholder's consolidated financial statements. The components of equity
of the acquired entities are added to the same components within the group equity and any gain/loss arising is
recognised directly in equity.

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising {from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-accounted investecs are
climinated against the investment 1o the extent of the group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Foreign currency translation

The group’s consolidated financial stalements are presented in pound sterling, which is also the parent
company's funciional currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are inittally recorded in the local entity’s
functional currency by applying the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling
at the balance sheet date. All exchange differences are included in the Group Income Statement, except where
hedge-accounting is applied and for differences on monetary assets and liabilitics that form part of the group’s
net imvestment in a forcign operation. These are recorded directly in equity until the disposal of the net
investment, al which time they are reclassified {rom equity to profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are mecasured in terms of historical cost in a forcign currency are translaied using the
exchange ratcs as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a forcign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dale when the fair value was determined.

Goodwill

Business c¢ombinations, other than commen control business combinations, are accounted for using the
acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which centrol is transferred to the group. The
group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

» the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

» therecognised amount of any nen-controlling interests in the acquiree: plus
the fair valuc of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

e the net recogniscd amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assels acquired and liabilities
assumed.

Costs relaled 1o acquisitions, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity sceurities, are expensed
as incurred.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2

Accounting policies (continued)

Goodwill (continued)
When the excess is negative any gain on bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately,

Any contlingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as cquity. i is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss.

(In a transaction-by-transaction basis, the group elecis to measure non-controlling intcrests, which have both
present ownership interests and arc entitled to a proportionate share of net assets ol'the acquiree in the event of
liquidation, cither at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identiliable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non-controlling interests are measurcd at their fair value
at the acquisition date,

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
lasses. The cast includes costs directly attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.
Property, plant and equipment acquired through business combinations is initially recorded at fair valuc on
acquisition.

Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, other than Irechold land, on a strajght-line basis
at rates calculated 10 write off the cost of each asset over the shorter of its leasing period or estimated uscful life
as follows:

Network assets, cable plant and equipment
Network assets - 3.

(e

(years

Network assets includes construction in progress which is not depreciated and comprises of materials,
consumables and direct labour relating to network construction and s stated at the cost incurred in bringing
each product to its present location and condition. as follows:

Raw materials and consumables - Purchasc cost

Work in progress - Cost of direct materials and labour
Other fixed assets:

Right-of-use property - Period of lease

Freeheld property, other than land - 30years

J.casehold improvements - 20 years or, if less, the term of the lease
Furniture and fixtures - 5-12vears

Computer equipment - 3-5ycars

Motor vehicles - Sycars

Labour costs relating to the design, construction and development of the neiwork, capital projects, and related
services are capitalised and depreciated on a straight-line basis gver the fife of the relesani assets,

The carrying svalues of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable, The uscful lives and residual values are
reviewed annually and where adjustments are required, these are made prospectively.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

In accordance with TAS 36 Ympairment of Assets’, imangible assets with finite lives are amortised on a strajght-
finc basis over their respective estimated useful lives, and reviewed for indications of impairment at each
reporting date.  If anyv such indication exists. or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the
group makes an estimate of the assetl's recoverable amount. An asset's recoverable amount is the higher of its
fair value less costs to sell and its value i use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the
carrving amount of an asset ¢cxceeds its recos crable amount, the asser is considered impaired and is written
down 10 its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated {uture cash flows are discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific 1o the asset. Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the
Group Income Statement in those expense categorics consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the yvear ended 31 December 2020

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (continued)

An assessment is made at each reporting date as o whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. 1f such indication exists, the recoverable amount
is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed, other than on goodwill. only if there has
been a change in the estimates used 1o determine the asset's recoverable amount since the last impairment loss
was recognised.

Provisions for liabilities and charges

A provision is recognised when the group has a present, legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event for which it is probable that the group will be required to settle by an eutflow of resources and for which a
rediable estimale of the amount of the obligation can be made. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet
date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

When the cffect of the time value of moeney is material provisions are discounted using a rate that rellects the
risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred
and recognised in profii and loss as an interest expense.

Leases

On the lease commencement date, (i} a ROU asset is recognised representing the right to use an underlying
asset and (ii) lease labilitics representing the group’s obligation to make lease payments over the lease term.
Lease and non-lease components in a contract are generally accounted for separately.

‘The group initially measures lease liabilities at the present value ol the remaining lease payments over the lease
term. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included enly when it is reasonably certain that the option
will be exercised. As most of the group’s leases do not provide cnough information to determine an implicit
interest rate, & portfolio leve!l incremental borrowing rate is used in the present value caleulation. ROU assels
are initially measured at the value ol the lease liability, plus any initial dircct costs and prepaid lease payments,
less any lcase incentives received.

ROU assets are generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life
of the assct. Intercst expense on the lease liability is recorded using the effective interest method.

Lessar
When the group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether cach Tease is a finance lease or an
opcrating lease,

To classify each lease, the group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of
the risks and rewards incidental to ewnership of the underlying assct. If this is the case, then the lease is a
finance lease: if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this asscssment, the proup considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the assct.

The proup recognises lease payments received under operating [cascs as income on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

Interest bearing loans and borrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs.

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subscquently measured at amortised cost
using the cffective interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilitics are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs.

Finance costs which are incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and sct off against the

borrowings to which they relate. Deferred finance costs are amortised over the term ol the related debt using the
cffective interest method.
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Virgin Media Finance PLC
Notes to the Group Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 December 2020

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Interest bearing loans and borrowings (continued)

Borrowings are classified as creditors: ameunts falling due within one year unless the company has an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the Hability (or at least {2 months afier the reporiing period in which
case they are classified as creditors: amounts falling due alier more than onc year.

Derivative financial instruments and hedging

The group has established policies and procedures to govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
foreign currency exchange rate risks through the use of derivative financial instruments, including interest rate
swaps, ¢cross currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative conlract
is cntered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value at cach balance sheet date.

Derivatives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilites when the fair
value is negative.

The foreign currency forward ratc contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are
valued using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transaciions in
either the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based
upon gquoted credit default spreads {or counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivalive contracts which arce
subject to master netting arrangements are not offset and have not provided, nor require, cash collateral with
any countcrparty.

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these
losscs would gencrally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Financial instruments are only used to hedge
underlying commercial exposures. The group does not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative
trading purposes, nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk
that is greater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges the hedging relationship is documented at its inception. This
docurnentation identifics the hedging instrument. the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being
hedged and how cffectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception
10 be highly effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as either fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the
fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firn commitments, or as cashflow hedges, when hedging
exposure to variability in cash flows that are cither attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised
assct or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an cffective hedging relationship, as set out in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(TFRS 9), must be classified as held for trading and mecasured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument s recognised directly
in Other Comprehensive Tncome, while the incffective portion is recognised in the Group Income Statement.
Amounts taken to Other Comprehensive Income are reclassified to the Group Income Statement when the
hedged transaction is recognised in the Group Income Statenmient. such as when a forecast sale or purchase
occurs, in the same line of the Group Income Statement as the recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item
is the cost of a non-financial assct or liability, the gains and losses previously accumulated in equity are
transferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or liability. If a forecast transaction
is no longer expected 1o occur. the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in the Group
Income Staternent. If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or
rollover, or if its designation as a hedge 1s revoked, amounts previously recognised in Other Comprehensive
Tncome remain in equity until the forecast transaction oceurs and are reclassified to the Group Income
Statement.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Fair value hedges

For fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in the Group
Income Statement immediately. gether with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that
are attributable to the hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the
hedged item attributable 1o the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the Group Income Statement relating
the hedged item.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its
designation as a hedge is revoked, then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item
arising from the hedged risk is amorlised o profit or loss from that date.

Inventories

Inventory consists of goods for resale and programing inventories which are valued at the lower of cost or net
rcalisable value using the first-in, first-out (FIFQ) method. Cost represents the invoiced purchase cost of
inventory. Net realisable value is bascd on judgements, using currently available information about obselete,
slow moving or defective inventory. Based upon these judgements and estimates, which are applied consistently
from period Lo period, an adjustment is made 1o state the carrying amount of inventory held for resale at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.,

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are initially measured at lair valuc and subsequently reported at amortised cost, net of an
allowance [or impairment of trade reeeivables. The allowance for impairment of trade reccivables is estimated
based upon our assessment of anticipated loss related to uncollectible accounts receivable. We use a numbcer of
factors in determining the allowance, including, among other things, cellection trends, prevailing and
anticipated economic conditions. and specific customer credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either
payment 1s received or the likelihood of collection is considered to be remote. For additional information
regarding our trade receivable and allowance lor impairment of trade receivables, see note 13.

Coneentration of credit risk with respect (o trade receivables is Iimited due to the large number of residential
business customers. We also manage this risk by disconnecting services to customers whose accounts are
delinquent.

Cash and short term deposits

Cash and shori-term deposits in the Group Balance Sheel comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term
deposits with an original maturity of three months or tess. For the purpose of the Group Cash Flow Statermnent,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short term deposits as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts.

Tax

Current income lax

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expecied o be recovered from or paid to the
laxation authoritics, based on tax rates and faws that arc enacted or substantively cnacted by the balance sheet
date.

Current income tax relating 1o items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income
statcment. The directors periodically cvaluate pusitions taken in the tax returns with respect (o situations in
which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establish provisions where appropriaic.
Income tax is charged or credited to Other Comprehensive Income if it relates to itemns that are charged or
credited to Other Comprehensive Income.

Deferred tax
Deferred 1ax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporiing purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilitics are recognised for all taxable temporary diflerences, exeept:

+  When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or Hability in a
transaction that is not a busincss cembination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accouniing profit nor taxable profit or loss.
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Accounting policies (continued)

Tax (continued)

e In respect of taxable temporary dilferences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and
interests in joini ventures, when the timing of the reversal of the temperary differences can be controlled
and it is probable that the tlemporary differences will not reverse in the foresecable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 1ax
credits and any unused tax losscs. Deferred tax asscts are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be wiilised, except:

*  When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 2 business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

* In respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiarics, associates and
interests in joint venturcs, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 1t is probable that the
temporary diffcrences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred ax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecopnised deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the
extent that it has become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax asscts and liabilitics are measured at the tax rates that arc expected to apply in the year when the
assel 1s realised or the lability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax
items are recognised in correlation to the underiying transaction cither in Other Comprehensive Income or
directly in equity.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax Liabilitics are offset if alepally enforceable right exists 1o set off current tax
assets against current income tax liabilitics and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
tax authority.

Pensions

The group contributes to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans for cligible employees.
Contributions to these schemes are recognised in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they
become pavable, in accordance with the rules for each of the plans.

The group operates two (2019 three) defined benefit pension plans, which require contributions 1o be made to
separately administered funds. The plans arc closed to new entrants.

The regular cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plans is atributed to individual vears using the
projected unit credit method. Variations in pension cost, which are identified as a result of actuarial valuations,
are amortised oyver the average expected remaining working lives of employees in proportion to iheir expecied
payroll costs. Past service costs are recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or immediately if the benefits have vested.

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accruedy or a curtailment (reducing fuwre
ohligations as a result of a material reduction in the scheine membership or a reduction in future entitlement)
occurs, the ebligation and related scheme assets are re-measured using the current actuarial assumptions and the
resultant gain or loss recognised in the Group Income Statement during the period in which the settlement or
curtailment occurs.
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Pensions (continued)

The interest element of the delined benefit pension cost represents the change in present value of scheme
obligations resulting from the passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening
present value of the benefit obligation, taking into account material changes in the obligation during the vear.
The expected return on scheme assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme asscls, adjusted for the effect of fair value ol the scheme assets of contributions
received and benefits paid during the vear. The difference betveen the expected return on scheme assets and
the interest cost is recognised in the Group Income Statement.

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period
in which they occur.

The defined benefit pension asset or liability in the Group Balance Sheet compriscs the total for gach scheme of
the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds),
less any past service cost not vet recognised and less the fair value of scheme assets out of which the obligations
are 10 be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information and, in the case of quoted securities,
is the published bid price.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is realised or realisable and earned. Revenue is measured at the fair
value of the consideration received, excluding discounts, rebates and VAT, The following criteria must also be
met before revenue is recognised:

e persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists between the company and the company's customer:
+ delivery has occurred or the service has been rendered;

¢ the price for the service is fixed or determinable; and

e recoverahilily is reasonably assured

Revenue camed from contracts to be recognised in line with performance obligations based on a five-siep
model.

On inception of the contract we identify a “performance obligation™ for each of the distinct goods or services
we have promised to provide to the customer. The consideration specified in the contract is allocated to cach
performance obligation identified based on their relative standalone selling prices, and is recognised in revenue
as they are satisfied. The [ollowing table summarises the performance obligations we have identified for our
major revenue lines and provides information on the time of when they arc satisfics and the related revenue
recognilion policy.

Revenue line Performance obligation Revenue recognition poliey

Service revenue — Cabte | Provision of broadband internet, video, and fixed- | Revenue for these tvpes of serviees is

Networks line telephony services over our cable network 1o | recognised evenly over the period of the
customers. agreement as the services are provided.

Performance obligations arce idenuficd tor cach
distingt service for which the customer has
contracted and are considered to be satisfied over
the time period that these services are delhivered.

Tnstallation and other When the group enters info contracts to provide These fees are generatly deferred andg
upfront fees services to customers, the group often charges recognised as revenue over the
istallation or other uptront fees. contractal period, or longer if the
upiront fee results in a material renewal

‘The group is obliged to ensure it can supply
scrvices (o the customer premise as per the
customer contract. 'This includes cable plant and
cquipment installation at the customers premise.

right.

[nstallation 15 not considered as a separate
performance obhigation.
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Revenue recognition {continued)

B2B revenus

Provision of data, voice and network solution
services, including the sale and maintenance of
equipment 1o business customers. Installation charges
are charged in relation to the provision of services.

The group ts obliged to provide the customer with the
connectivity services and or equipment stipulated the
customer contract.

Installation is not considered as a separate
performance obligation.

‘The group defer upfront installation
and certain nonrecurming fees
received on business-to-business
contracts where we maintain
ownership of the installed
equipment. The deferred fees arc
amortised inlo revenue on a
straight-line basis, gencrally over
the longer of the term of the
arrangement or the expected perind
of performance.

From time to time, we also enter
into agreements with certain B2B
customers pursuant to which they
are provided the right to use certain
clements of our nctwork.

[f'these agreements are determined
te contain a lease that mects the
criteria to be considered a sales-
type lease, we recognize Tevenue
from the lease component when
control of the network element is
transferred 1o the customer.

The group recognise revenue from
mobile services in the period in
which the related services are
provided. Revenuc from pre-pay
customers is deferred prior to the
commencement of services and
recognised as the services are
rendered or usage rights expire,
Arrangement consideration
allvcated to handsets 15 recognised
as revenuc when the goods have
been delivered and title has passed.
For custogners under a mobile
handset instalment contract that is
independent of a mobile airtime
services contract, revenuc is
recognised upon delivery.

Mobilc revenue —
Adrtime services

Provision of minutes, texts and data over our mobile
network

‘The group is obliged to provide the customer with a
SIM which is provisioned with contracted allowances
cach month.

Mobile revenue -
ITandsets

Provision of mobile handset delivery to the customer.

lhe aroup is obliged to provide dehvery of mobile
handsets as requested by the customer.

There are no material obligations in respect of returns, refunds or warranties.

Considegration from mobile contracts is allocated to the airtime service component and the handset component
based on the relative standalone selling prices of each component. When the group offer handsets and airtime
services in separate contracts entered into at the same time, the group account for these contracts as a single
contract.

Incremental revenucs are generated based on usage for calls and video on demand. The entity has a right 1o
consideration from the customer at an amount that corresponds directly with the value to the customer of the
entity”s performance completed to date, therefore the entity recognises the revenue to the extent to which it has
aright to iny oice.

For subscriber promotions, such as discounted or free services during an introductory period, revenue is
recognised uniformly over the contractual period if the contract has substantive termination penalties, If a
contract docs not have substantive terminaticn penalties, revenue is recognized only to the extent of the
discounted monthly fees charged to the subscriber, if any.

Certain upfront costs assoclated with contracts that have substantive termination penalties and a term of one
vear or more are recognised as assets and amortised to operating costs and expenses over the applicable period
benefited.
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Finance income
Finance income is recognised as interest accrues according o the effective interest method which uses the rate
that discounts estimated future cash reccipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrving amount.

Share-based payments

The company is an indirect, wholly-owned subsidiary of Virgin Media Inc. and Liberty Global ple. The
company has no sharc-based compensation plans. Employees of the group render serviees in exchange for
shares or rights over shares (equitv-settled transactions) of Liberty Global ple common stock.

Share-based paymenrs (comtinued)

The cost of equity-settled transactions with cmployees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted. The fair value of options and share appreciation rights are determined using the Black-
Scheles model. The fair value of restricted share units is determined using cither the share price at the grant date
or thc Monie Carlo model. depending on the conditions attached to the restricted share units being granted.
These transaction costs are recognised, together with a corresponding increase in cither cquity or amounts owed
to parcnt undertakings, over the service period, or, if applicable, over the period in which any performance
conditions are fulfilled, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled 1o the
award (vesting date). The cumulative expense recognised for equity settled transactions at each reporling date,
until the vesting date, reflects the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the number of awards that
arc cstimated to ultimately vest, in the opinion of management at that datc and based on the best available
information.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional
upon a market vesting condition, which are treated as vesting irrespective of shether or not the market
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

3 Segment information

The principal activity of the group is to facilitate the group's financing structure by implementing the group's
capital management policies, making and facilitating external borrowings and holding investments in subsidiary
companics. The company s investments include substantially all of the Virgin Media group’s trading operating
companies.

The Virgin Media group’s reporting scgments arc based on its method of internal reporting to the Liberty
Global group and the information used by its chiel exceutive officer, who is the chief operating decision maker
(*CODM™), 1o evaluate segment performance and make capital allocation decisions.

1t has been determined that the Virgin Media group comprises a single operating segment. This reflects how the
CODM reviews the results of the group’s business based on revenue and profitability measures.

There is no material difference between the revenue presented to the CODM and the revenue of the Virgin
Media Finance PLC group. Revenue for the group was £4,790.3 million (2019 - £4.835.7 million) and was
cntirely derived from the sale of goods and services.,

Geographic Locations
The group’s revenue by geographic location is sct out below:

Restated

2020 2019

£ million £ million

UK 4.730.5 4,770.9
Ircland 59.8 64.8
Total 4,790.3 4,835.7

Ireland represents revenue generated from the Irish television business.
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4  Group operating profit

This is stated after charging/(crediting):

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 11}
Depreciation of right of usc assets {note 11)

Total depreciation

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 10)

Rent of premises

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Cost of inventories recognised within cost of sales

CGain on sale of discontinued operations (nots 22)

5  Auditor’s remuneration

Restated

2020 2019

£ million £ million
933.0 943.4
35.1 40.0
988.1 983.4
1745 193.1
AR 298
(L.3) (3.3)
192.9 208.0

(668.51 -

The group paid the following amounts to its auditor in respect of the audit of the financial statements and for

other services provided to the group.

Fees paid to the auditor for audit and other services to the company arc not disclosed in its individual accounts

as the group accounts are required 10 disclose such fees on a consolidated basis.

Fecs payable 10 the company’s auditor and their associates for other services represents fees payable for
services in relation to other statutory filings or engagements that are required to be carricd out by the group's

auditor.

Audil services:

Statutory audit services - audit of the parent company and group

financial statements

Fees payvable to the company's auditor and their associates for other services:
Statutory audit services - statutory accounts of the company's subsidiaries

6  Staff costs and directors’ emoluments

(a) Staft costs

2020 2019

£ million £ million
(1.5 0.5
0.2 0.2
0.7 0.7

Included in wages and salaries is a total expense for share-based pavments of £33.7 millien (2019 - £48.3
million), all of which arises from transactions accounted for as equity -sctiled share-based payment transactions.

Further information on compensation of key management personnel is disclosed in the related party

transactions (notc 29).
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(b)

(c)

Staff costs and directors’ emoluments (continued)

(o) Staff costs (continucd)

Wages and salaries

Social security cosls

Pension costs - defined benefit scheme
Pension costs - defined contribution scheme
Total staff costs

Average stafl numbers

The average monthly number of employees during the year was:

Censumer

Support. Technology and Innovation
Business

Nerwork Expansion

Mobile

Total average staff numbers

Directors’ emoluments

There were no other transactions with directors during the year.

Directors' remuneration
Amounts receivable under long term incentive plans
Total remuneration

Company contributions under defined contribution pension plans

Highest paid director:
Remuneration (including awards receivable under long term incentive plans)
Company contributions under defined contribution pension plans

Number of directors aceruing benefits under defined contribution pension plans
Number of dircctors whe exercised share options under schemes

operated by ultimate parent company

Number of directors with shares received or receivable under long

term incentive plans
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Restated

2020 2019
£ million £ million
otl.3 3642
64.3 52.8
1.7 1.6
29.5 26.1
706.8 644.7
Restated

2020 2019
No. No.
6,494 3.856
3.031 3,942
1.358 2,211
1,221 R87
65 52
12,169 12,948
2020 2019
£ 000 £ 000
1,531 3,938
673 1,510
2,204 5,448
9 18
1.047 2,148
o 9
1,036 2,157
2020 2019
No. No.

1 3

4 3

4 3
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7 Finance income

Other finance income and interest on amounts due from group undertakings and related parties are recognised

using the effective interest rate method in accordance with IFRS 9 *financial instruments’.

Interest on amounts duc from related partics
Gain on foreign exchange

Gain on fair value of financial instruments
Other tinance income

Interest on pension plans

Total finance income

8 Finance costs

Interest pavable is recognised using the effective interest rate method.

Restated
2020 2019
£ million £ million
276.9 2838
170.7 200.5

75 -
0.2 0.6
2.3 2.3
457.6 41872

For the year ended 31 December 2020, loss on extinguishment of debt was £138.2 million (2019 - £115.3
million) and related to the redemption premium paid and the write off of deferred financing costs as a result of
the redemption ef the senier notes, senior secured notes and senior credit facilities from refinancing activities

during the year (scc note 17).

Interest pavable on:
Senior credit facility and vendor linancing
Senior notes

Loss on derivative linancial instruments

Loss on debt extinguishment

Loss on fair value of financial tnstruments

Interest payable on leascs

Unwinding of discounts on provisions

Other intcrest and fees

Total finance costs
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Restated

2020 2019
£ million £ million
2432 275.7
2995 352.5
268.6 30.6
1393 188.8
- 20.8
11.7 12.0
1.5 1.5
1.7 23
968.5 884.2
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9 Tax

(@) Tax expense on profit before tax

Crerrent 1o
UK 1axes

Deferred tax:
Origination and reversal of temporary diflerences

Movement in deferred 1ax assets due to change in tax rate
Prior year adjusiment

Total tax (benefit)expense in Group Income Statement

(b} Reconciliation of the fotal tax (benefit)/expense in the Group Income Statement

2020 2019

£ million £ million
1.0 0.9

1.0 0.9

7.2 984
(182.4) {3.9)
0.5 7.6
(174.7) 162.1
(173.7) 103.0

‘The Group Income tax assessed for the year is lower than (2019 — lower than) the standard rate of corporation

tax in the UK of 19% (2019 - 19%). The differences are explained below:

{Loss)/profit before income tax

(Loss)/profit multiplied by the UK standard rate of corporation
tax of 19% (2019 - 19%)
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes
Group relief surrendered/ claimed) without payment
Other
Movement in deferred tax assets due to change in tax rate
Adjustment retating to prior years
Total tax (benefityexpense recognised in the Group Income Statement

(c) Recenciliation of the total tax expense

Tax recognised in the Group Income Statement
Tax recognised in equity
Total tax (bencfityexpense
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Restated
2020 2019
£ million £ million
(189.4) 640.5
(36.0) 121.7
1.3 6.0
43.3 (38.2)
(0.4) 9.2
(182.4) 3.9
0.3 82
(173.7) 103.0
2020 2019
£ million £ million
(173.7) 103.0
0.9 {1.0)
(172.8) 102.0
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| (d) Recognised deferred tax

Recognised deferred tax asscts at 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019 werce as follows:

2020 2019
£ million £ million
[ UK deferred tax assets:
Depreciation and amortisalion 1,501.6 1,370.1
Derivative instruments 3786 [1.2
Net operating losses 160.4 157.4
Other 18.5 5.5
Total UK deferred tax asscts 1.718.1 1,544.2

The group has determined it probable that in future it will gencrate sufficient pre-tax profits to utilise
substantially all of its deferred tax assets.

In the 11 March 2020 Budgcet it was anncunced that the UK tax rate will remain at 19% and not reduce to 17%
from 1 Aprii 2020. The 19% rate was substantively enacted in the Finance Bill 2020 on 17 March 2020. In the 3
March 2021 Budget, it was announced that the UK tax rate would increase to 23% from 1 April 2023,
substantively cnacted on 24 May 2021, This will increase the group's future current tax charge accordingly and
increase the deferred tax asset by approximately £525.0 million.

The deferred tax assets have been calculated using the enacted rate of 19% as at the current balance sheet date
(2019 — 17%).
{e) Unrecognised deferred tax

Deferred tax assets in respeet of the following amounts have not been recognised as there is not currently
persuasive evidence that there will be suitable taxable profits against which these timing differences will

reverse.
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Net operating losses 192.3 479.0
Capital losscs 12,104.7 12.104.6
Other timing differences 177.5 314.0
12.474.5 12,897.6
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() Movement in deferred tax balances
Movements in deferred tax during the vear:

1 January Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

2020 income equify 2020

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Depreciation and amortisation 1,370.1 131.5 - 1,501.6
Derivative instruments 11.2 264 - 37.6
Net nperating losgses 1574 3.0 - 160.4
Other 5.6 13.8 (0.9} 18.5
O 1,544.3 174.7 (0.9) C O 1L,718.1

Movements in deferred tax during the prior year:

1 January Recognised in Recognised in 31 December

2019 income equity 2019

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Depreciation and amortisation 1,499.9 (129.8) - L3701
Derivative instruments (6.7} 17.9 - 1.2
Net operating losses 139.0 18.4 - 157.4
Other 13.1 (8.5) 1.0 5.6

16453 (102.0) 1.0 15443
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10 Intangible assets

() Sammary of intangible assets

Goodwill IT Software Other Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million
Cost
At 1 January 2019 2,303.8 645.8 21.7 2.971.3
Tmipairment - (0.4} - 0.4;
Additions - 89.2 - 892
Disposals - (75.1) - {(75.1)
Lffect of movement in exchange rates (12.6) - - (12.6}
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 22012 659.5 217 29724
Additions - 1245 - 124.5
Disposals - (119.5) - (119.5)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party (165.6) - - {165.6)
Effeet of movement in exchange rates 11.9 - - 11.9
At 31 December 2020 21375 664.5 207 28137
Accomulated amortisation and impajrment
AL 1 January 2019 138.0 256.2 15.9 410.1
Amortisation charge - 192.0 1] 193.1
Disposals - (75.1) - (75.1)
At 31 Deceniber 2019 and 1 January 2020 138.0 373.1 17.0 528.1
Amortisation charge - 173.7 08 174.5
Disposals - (118.2) - {118.2)
At 31 December 2020 1380 4286 178 5844
Net book value
At 31 December 2020 1,999.5 2359 39 272393
At 31 Decemnber 2019 2.153.2 286.4 4.7 2,444.3
At 1 January 2019 2,165.8 389.6 58 2.561.2

The amortisation charge has been recognised through administrative expenses in the Group [ncome Statement.
(b) Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but instead arc tested for
impairment at least annually. Goodwill is allocated to reporting units, the assets of which are separately
operated and monitored,

The group evaluates the recoverable amount of the group’s reporting units, using a fair value less costs to scll
method. The group’s cstimate of the recoverable amount is based primarily of observable EBITDDA multiples
for recent transactions and publicly—traded peer companies, which are Level 2 inputs in the fair v alue hicrarchy.
The group’s 2020 goodwill impairment assessment determined that fair value excecded the carryving value of
both of the group’s reporting units and as a result coneluded that no impairment to goodwill was required.
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Cost
At 1 January 2019
Lecase opening balance adjusiment

Additions
Efteet of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2620
Opening balance adjustment

Additions

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

Om disposal of subsidiary to rclated party
At 31 December 2020

Depreciation

At | January 2019

Provided during the vear

Impairment release

Liffeet of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

AL 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020
Provided during the vear

Effect of movement in exchange rates
Disposals

On disposal of subsidiary to related party
At 31 December 2020

Net book value
At 31 December 2020

At 31 DPecember 2010

At ] January 2019

The group did not capitalise any borrowings costs during the year.

Included in 'Other” are the following net book values:

Frechold land and buildings
Leaschold tand and buildings
[.easchold improvements

Network
assets Other Total
£ miilion £ million £ million
14,431.7 1,439.5 15,871.2
10.5 136.6 147.1
1,005.4 187.8 1,193.2
(43.5) (5.6) {49.1)
(799.1) (43.3) (842.6)
14,605.0 1.714.8 16.319.8
1.9 (2.6) (0.7)
870.6 141.3 1.011.9
42.3 6.4 48.7
(603.9) (157.0) (760.9)
(821.5) (97.4) (918.9)
14,004 4 1.605.5 15,699.9
9,4542 993.9 10.448.1
890.0 156.7 1,046.7
{(424.7) . {(424.7)
(23.1) (2.7) (25.8)
(779.3) (43.2) (822.5)
9.117.1 11047 10,221.8
932.0 116.6 1,048.6
234 43 27.7
(599.8) (96.5) (696.3)
(452.1) (96.8) (548.9)
9,020.6 1,0323° 10,052.9
5,073.8 573.2 5,647.0
5,487.9 610.1 6.098.0
4,977.5 415.6 5,423.1
2020 2019
£ million £ million
a3.1 34.4
284 29.1
49.8 50.6
111.3 1230

The remaining assets included in *Other’ consist of fumniture and fixtures. computer equipment and molor

vehicles.
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13

Financial assets

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Non-current
Restricted cash 36.7 22.0
Deferred financing costs 144 16.2
Derivative instruments (scc note 21) 279.7 430.9
Amounts owed by related paries 5.900.2 4,953.8
6,234.0 54229
Current
Derivative instruments (sec note 21) 66.6 824
Restricted cash 0.1 0.1
Amounts owed by related parties 685.8 -
752.5 82.5

Amounts owed by related parties are primarity in respect of loan notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2
Limited, and Newco Heldeo § Limited, both wholly owned subsidiaries of Liberty Global ple that sit outside of

the Virgin Media group.

i) Notes receivable from Liberty Global Europe 2 Limited, which have an aggregate principal balance of
£4,798.7 million (2019: £4,926.4 million). These comprise of principal amount outstanding of £685.8
million (2019: £nil) at a rate of 2.560% repayable in December 2021 and £4,758.1 million (2019: £4,926.4
milliorr) at a rate of 4.741% (subject to adjustment) repavable in July 2023, As at 31 December 2019
£1,501.5 million was outstanding which incurred interest at a rate of 8.5%. This was repaid in May 2020.

i) Notes receivable from Newco Holdeo 3 Limited. which have a principal amount outstanding of £1.098.2

million (2019: £nil) at a rate of 3.74% repayable in May 2027.

Trade and other receivables
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Non-current
Prepayments and accrued income 71.8 36.3
Current
Trade receivables 3809 429.4
Amounts owed by parent and group undertakings 243 1.6
Amourts owed by related parties L 333
Prepavments and accrued income 187.0 184.6
603.3 650.9

Prepayments and accrued income classified as non-current include long term telecommunications contract

assets with terms in excess of one year.

Current amounts owed by both parent, group undertakings and related parties are unsecured and repayable on

demand.

Irade receivables are non-interest bearing, are generally on 30-90 day terms and are stated net of provision for
non-recoverability.  The group's trade and other receivables have been reviewed for indicators of impairment
and it was concluded that a provision for non-recoverability of £19.7 million (2019 - £19.5 million) was
required. The carrving value of trade receivables is considered to be a fair approximation of fair value.
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15

Trade and other receivables (continued)

The allowance for doubtful accounts is based upon the group’s asscssment of probable loss related to
uncollectible trade rcecivables. The group uses a number of factors in determining the allowance, including,
among other things. collection trends, prevailing and anticipated cconomic conditions and specific customer
credit risk. The allowance is maintained until either receipt of payment or the likelithood of collection is
considered to be remote.

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables were as follows:

£ million
At 1 January 2019 19.6
Charge for the vear 232
Utilised (23.3)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 19.5
Charge for the year 221
Utilised (219
At 3] December 2020 19.7
The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:
Neither
past due nor Balances past due
Total impaired <30 days 30-060days 60-90days >90 days
£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million £ million
3t December 2020 380.9 316.6 19.4 13.4 10.8 20.7
31 December 2019 429.4 324.6 34.6 24.4 6.8 39.0
Inventories
2020 2019
£ million £ million
CGoods for resale 235 309
Programming inventory 19.9 23.7
Total Inventory 434 54.6

[nventories are stated afier provisions for impairment of £4.8 million (2019 - £6.7 million)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank carns intcrest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Shert-term deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
group, and earn interest at the respective short-term deposit rates. The fair value of cash and cash equivalents
including overdrawn cash book balances at 31 December 2020 was £19.3 million (2019 - £33.9 million}).

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Cash at bank and in hand 19.2 33.9
Short-term deposits o1 .

19.3 33.9
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17

Non-current
Other long term pay ables

Current

Trade payables

VAT, payroll 1axes and soctal sccurily costs
Imterest payable

Amounts owed to parent and group undertakings
Amounis owed to related party

Accruals and deferred income

2020 2019

£ million £ million
215 268
2020 2019

£ million £ million
33913 3343
152.2 161.0
138.8 133.2
77.5 522
172.9 48.9
808.9 8423
1,689.6 1,391.9

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and generally repavable on terms of up to 60 days. Trade payables,
interest payable and amounts owed Lo group undertakings are financial liabilitics which are excluded from note

17.

Amounts owed to group undertakings and to related parties are unsecured and repayable on demand.

Other long term payvables consist of property and restrucluring costs provisions,

Financial liabilities

Current

Lease liabilitics (sce noie 18)
Current instalments duc on other debi
Derivative instruments (sec note 21)
Vendor financing

Non-current

Lease liabilities (sec note 18)

Non-current instalments due on senior credit facility
Scnior notes

Senior secured notes

Non-current instalments due on other debt
Derivative instruments (see note 21)

Vendor financing

Total financial Habilities
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2020
£ million

31.9
6.6
148.2
1,966.2

2,1529

172.2
3.967.6
1.119.5
4,381.2

286.3

607.7

89.0

10,623.5

12.776.4

2019
£ million

335
101.5
133.6
1,762.7
20313

188.0
3.998.4
11873
44719

142.7
102.8

724
10,4635
12,4948
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17 Financial liabilities (continued)

Borrowings at 31 December were repayable as follows:

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts falting due:

Within one vear 1.906.4 1,804.4
Inmore than one year but not more than five years 373.1 340.2
Inmore than five years 9.520.1 9.637.6
11.839.6 11,7822
[ess: issue costs (43.2) (45.3)
Total borrowings 11,816.4 11,736.9
Financial ligbilities not classed as borrowings 964.0 757.9
Total financial liabilitics 12,776.4 12,494.8

tinancial Habilities not classed as borrowings include amounts payable to parent and group undertakings,
obligations under leases, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps.

Loans repayable in more than five years are as follows:

2020 2019

Loans repayable after 5 years: £ million £ million
Senior notes 1.127.1 1,057.2
Senior sceured notes 4.400.1 4.490.8
Senior credit facilities 39816 40146
Other debt 1.3 730
9,520.1 9.637.6

Vendor financing

‘The group enters into vendor financing arrangements to finance cerlain property and cquipment additions and
operating costs. The amounts owed pursuant to these arrangements are interest bearing and include VAT which
was paid on the group’s behall by the vendor. Repayments of vendor [inancing obligations are included in the
repayment of borrowings in the Group Cash Flow Statement. The weighted average cost of vendor financing
debt is 4.33% and is substantially due within | year.

Senior notes

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Senior noles consist of:
U.S. Dollar
5.25% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $52 million) - 8.8
4.875% senior notes due 2022 (principal at maturity $72 million} - 54.0
6.00% senior notes due 2024 (principal at maturity $497 million) - 3747
3.75% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity $389 million)} - 2031
3.0% senior notes due 2030 (principal at maturity $925 million) 679.3 -
679.3 760.6
Sterling
5.125% senior notes due 2022 {principal at maturity £44 million} - 44.1
- 44.1
Euro
4.5% senior notes due 2025 (principal at maturity €460 million) - 3894
3.75% senior notes due 2030 (principal at maturity €500 million) 447.8 -
447.8 389.4
Less: issue costs (7.6) (6.8)
Total scnior notes 1,119.5 1,187.3
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In June 2020, Virgin Mcdia Finance PLC issucd 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $675.0 million.
The net proceeds. together with the May 2020 proceeds were used 10 redeem in full €460.0 million and $389.0
million outstanding principal amoun of 2025 senior notes.

Virgin Media Finance PLC jssued an additional 2030 senior notes with principal amounts of $250.0 million and
€500.0 million. The net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in full $497 million
outstanding principal amounts of existing 2024 senior notes and $123.1 million and £44.1 miliion outstanding
principal amounts of existing 2022 senior notes and (2) tor gencral corporate purposes.

The new secured notes rank pari-passu with the group's existing sccured notes and subject to certain exceptions,
share in the same guarantees and security granted in favour of its existing secured notes.

Senior secured notes

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Senior secured notes consist of:
.S, Dollar
§.5% senior notes due 2G26 (principal at maturicy $730 million) 549.2 565.6
5.5% scnior notes due 2029 {principal at maturity $1,425 million} 1,050.4 1,081.9
4.5% senior notes due 2030 (principal at maturity $915 million) 6741 -
22737 1,647.5
Sterling
6.00% senior secured notes duc 2025 (prineipal at maturity £521 million) - 540.1
5.00% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity £675 million) 675.0 673.0
4.875% senior secured notes due 2027 (principal at maturity €523 million} - 5235.0
6.25% senjor secured notes due 2029 (principal al maturity £360 million} - 362.0
5.25% senior secured notes due 2029 {principal at maturity £340 million) 3411 341.2
4.25% senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £400 million) - 400.0
4.23% senior sceured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £633 million) 631.0 -
4.123% senior secured notes due 2030 (principal at maturity £480 million) 4793 -
T21264 0 28833
Less: issue costs (18.9) (18.9)
Total senier secured notes T 43812 44719

In June 2020. Virgin Media Secured Finance PL.C issued 2030 senior scoured notes with principal amounts of
$650 million and £450 million. The net proceeds from the issuance of these notes were used (1) to redeem in
full £525 million outstanding principal amounts of existing 2027 scnior sceured notes, (2) o redeem in full
£360 million outstanding principal amounts of existing 2029 senior secured notes and (3) to redeem £80 million
of the £521 million owstanding principal amount of existing 2025 senior secured notes.

In November 2620, Virgin Media Sceured I'inance PLC issued, via a private placement 2030 senior secured
noies with principal amounts of $263 million, £235 million and £30 million. The net proceeds from the issuance
of thesc notes were used (1) redeem in full £441 million cutstanding principal amounts of existing 2025 scnior
sceured notes and (2) for general corporate purposes.
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Senior credit facility
2020 2019
The non-current instalments due on the sexnior credit facility consists of: £ million £ million

U.S. Dollar

VM Facility K
LIBOR + 2.50% senior eredit facility due 2026 (principal at maturity $3,400.0 - 24821
million}

VM Facility N
LIBOR + 2.50% scnior credit facitity due 2028 (principal at maturity $3,300.0 24121 -

million)

Euro

VM Facility O
LEURIBOR + 2,504 senior credit facility due 2029 (principal at 670.3 633.4
maturity €750.0 million}

Sterling
VM Facility 1,
LIBOR~+ 3.25% senior credit facility due 2027 (principal at maturity £400.0 400.0 400.0
million}
VM Facility M
LIBORA+ 3.25% senior credit tacility due 2027 (principal at maturity £500.0 4992 4991
million)
3,981.6 40146
Less: issuc costs (14.0) (16.2)
Senior eredit facility due after more than one ycar ©3,967.6 3.998.4
Total senior credit [acility 3,967.6 3,998.4

The Senior Credit Facility requires that certain members of the Virgin Media Group that generate not less than
80% of such group’s EBITDA (as defined in the Senior Credit Facility) in any financial year, guaramee the
payment of all sums payable under the Scnior Credit Facility and such group members arc required to grant
first-ranking security over all or substantially all of their assets to secure the payment of all sums pavable. In
addition, the holding company of each borrower must give a share pledge over its shares in such borrower.

Al 31 December 2020, the senior secured credit facilities of the group included two multi currency revolving
credit facikities ("Revolving Lacility”) Revolving Facility A is a multd currency revolving facility maturing on
31 December 2021 with a maximumn borrowing capacity equivalent to £50.0 million, and Revolving Lacility B
is a multi currency revolving flacility maturing on 15 January 2024 with a maximum borrowing capacity
cquivalent to £950.0 millien.

In addition to mandatory prepayments which must be made for cerlain disposal proceeds (subject to certain de
minimis thresholds), the lenders may cancel their commitments and declare the loans due and pavable afier 30
business davs following the occurrence of a change of control in respect of Virgin Media Investment Holdings
Limited (a wholly owned subsidiary of Virgin Media I'inance P1.C), subject to certain exceptions.
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Financial liabilities (continued)

The Senior Credit Facility contains certain customary events of default, the occurrence of which, subject 1o
certain exceptions and materiality qualifications, would allfow the lenders o (1) cance! the 101al commitments,
(i) accelerate all outstanding loans and terminate their commitments there under and/or (iii) declare that all or
part of the loans be pavable on demand. The Senior Credit Facility contains certain rcpresentations and
warranties customary for facilities of this type. which are subject to exceptions, baskets and materiality
qualifications.

The Senior Credit Facility restricts the ability of certain members of the Virgin Media Group w, among other
things, (i) incur or guarantee certain financial indebtedness, (il) make certain disposals and acquisitions and (iii)
create certain security interests over their asscts, in each case, subject 1o carve-outs from such limitations.

The Senior Credit Facility requires the borrowers to obscrve certain affirmative undertakings or covenants,
which covenants arc subject to materiality and other customary and agreed exceptions. In additien, the Senior
Credit Facility also requires compliance with various financial covenants such as Senior Net Debt to Annualised
EBITDA and 1otal Net Debt to Annualised LBITDA, each capitalised term as defined in the Senior Credit
Facility.

In addition to customary default provisions, the Senior Credit Facility provides that any event of default with
respect to indebtedness of £50.0 million or more in the aggregate of the company, and its subsidiaries is an
event of default under the Senior Credit Facility.

The Senior Credit Facility permits certain members of the Virgin Media Group 10 make certain distributions
and restricted payments 1o its parcnt company {and indirectly to Liberty Global) through loans, advances or
dividends subject to compliance with applicable covenants.

Restrictions
The agreements poverning the senior notes. senior secured notes and the senior credit facility significantly, and,
in some cases. absolutely restrict the group's ability and the ability of most of its subsidiaries to:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness;

s pav dividends or make other distributions, or redeem or repurchase equity intercsts or subordinated
obligations;

make invesiments;

scll assets, including shares in suhsidiaries;

create liens;

cnter into agreements thai restrict the restricted subsidiaries' ability to pay dividends, transfer assets or
make intercompany loans;

= merge or consolidate or transfer substantially all of the group's assets; and

s enter into transactions with affiliates.

Leases

General
The group enters into leases for network equipment, real cstate and v chicles.

ROU assets

Right-of-use asscts rclated to [eased propertics that do not meet the definition of invesiment property are
presented as properiy, plant and equipment.
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18 Leases (continued)

[L.and and Build
Network
Other

Additions to the right-of-use asscts during the 2020 [inancial y car were £29.0 million (2019 - £47.0 million),

Amounts recognised in profit
The income statement shows the following amounts related to leases:

Depreciation charge of righi-of-use assets:
Land and Build

Network

Other

Interest expense
Short-term keasce expense

The wtal cash outflow for leases in 2020 was £43.0 million (2019 - £48.0 miliion).

Lease liabilities
Maturities of our lease liabilitics as of December 31, 2020 arc presented below:

[ .£ss than one vear

One lo five years

More than five years

Total undiscounted lease liabilitics

Impact of finance expenses

1 case liability included in the statement of financial position

Current
Non current
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2020 2019
£ million £ million
- 11.4
10.4 8.2
168.1 181.5
178.5 2011
2020 2019
£ million £ million
- 1.5
2.1 3.4
35.1 371
372 42.0
10,2 16.8
47.4 52.8
2020 2019
£ million £ million
41.1 46.3
108.2 131.7
191.5 197.6
340.8 3756
(136.7) (154.1)
204.1 221.5
319 33.5
172.2 188.0
204.1 221.5
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20

Property
related Other
costs provisions Total
£ million £ million £ million
A131 December 2019 and | January 2020
Current 1.4 22 3.6
Non-current 122.1 2.9 124.9
123.5 5.1 128.6
Established during the vear 4.0 13.8 17.8
Used during the year (3.7) (13.3) (17.0)
Revisions in cashflow estimates 0.6 - 0.6
Movement in discount rate (36.3) - (56.3)
On disposal of subsidiary to related party 29 - (2.9)
At 31 December 2020 63.2 5.6 70.8
Analysed as:
Current 1.6 1.1 2.7
Non-current 63.6 45 68.1
65.2 5.6 70.8

Property related costs
Property related costs expected to be incurred are mainly in relation to dilapidations costs on leaschold
propertics. The majority of the costs are expected to be incurred over the next 23 years,

Other provisions
Other provision efements mainly consist of National Insurance contributions on share eptions and restricted
stock unit grants and redundancy costs resulting from restructuring programimes.

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies

The group's principal financial liahilitics, other than derivatives, comprise bank loans (senior credit facility),
senior notes, senjor secured notes, finance leases, vendor financing, trade payables. hire purchase contracts and
loans made to parent, fellow group undertakings and related partics. With the exception of trade payables the
main purpose of the financial liabilities is to raise finance for the Virgin Media group's operations. The group
has various financial assets such as trade receivables and cash and short term deposits, which arise directly from
its operations.

The group is exposed to various marker risks, including credit risk, foreign exchange rate risk, liguidity risk and
interest rate risk. Market risk is the potential loss arising from adserse changes in market rates and priccs. As
some of the group's indebledness accrues interest at variable rates there is exposure to volatility in future cash
flows and earnings associated with variable interest payments.

Interest and principal obligations on some indebtedness are in U.S. dollars and euros. As a result the group has
exposure 1o volatility in future cash [lows and earnings associated with changes in foreign exchange rates on
payments of interest and principal amounts on a portion of its indebtedness.

The group has entered into various derivative instruments to manage interest rate risk, and foreign exchange
risk with respect to the U.S. dollar and curo, comprising of interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate
swaps and foreign currency forward contracts, The objective 1s 10 reduce the volatility of the group's cash flows
and carnings caused by changes in underlving rates.

The main risks arising from the group's financial liabilities arc described below:

Interest rate risk

The group is subject Lo interest rate risk because it has substantial indebtedness at variable rates of interest, At
31 December 2020, before waking into account hedging instruments, interest is determined on a variable basis
on £3.981.6 million (2019 - £4.014.6 million) or 34% (2019 - 32%) of indebtedness, relating solely to amounts
drawn down on the senior credit facilities. The group aims to reduce the volatility of its cash flows and earnings
as g result of fluctuations in interest rates through the use of derjvative financial instruments.
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Interest rate risk profile of financial assets
The group’s financial assets include cash on monev market deposit at call. seven day and monthly rates, and
amounts owed by parent undertakings and related partics charged at variable interest rates.

Sensitivity analyvsis of changes in interest rates

Interest rate risks are presented by way of a sensitivity analvsis in accordance with 1FRS 7 'Financial
Instruments: Disclosures’. These show the effects of changes in market interest rates on interest payments,
intcrest income and expense, other components and, as appropriale. equity. The interest rate sensitivity analyscs
arc based on the following assumptions:

e Changes in market interest rates of non-derivative financial instruments with {ixed interest rates only
affect income if measured at fair value. As such, all financial instruments with fixed inerest rates that
are carried at amortised cost are not subject to interest rale risk as defined by TFRS 7.

o Changes in market interest rates affect the interest income or expense of non-derivative variable-
interest financial instruments, the interest payments of which are not designated as hedged items of
cash flow hedges against interest rate risks. As a consequence, they are included in the caleulation of
interest rale scnsitivitics.

*  Changes in the market interest rate of intercst rate derivatives (interest rate swaps and cross-currency
interest rate swaps) that are not part of a hedging relationship as sct out in II'RS 9 ‘Fingncial
fnstruments’ affect gaing or losses on derlvatives and are therefore taken into consideration in the
calculation of interest rate sensitivitics.

+ Torcign currency forward rate contracts are not subject 10 interest rate risks and therefore do not aftect
interest ratc sensitivitics.

Based on debt at 31 December 2020, including amounts owed to and due from parent and group undertakings.
and taking into consideration hedging instruments. a 0.25% movement in market interest rates would resull in
an annual increasc or decrease in the gross interest income/expense of £11.9 million (2019 - a 0.25% movement
in market interest rates would result in an annual increase or decrease in the gross interest income/cxpensc of
£8.6 million). Movements in gross interest expense would be recognised in finance income and finance costs in
the Group Income Statement.

Foreign currency exchange rate risk

The group is also subject Lo [oreign currency exchange risks because interest and principal obligations with
respect to a portion of its indebtedness is denominated in U.S. dollars and euros. To the extent that the pound
declines in value against the U.S. dollar and the curo, the effective cost of servicing 11,8, dollar and cure
denominated debt will be higher. Changes in the exchange rate result in foreign currency gains or losses,

As of 31 December 2020 the group had £3,365.1 million (2019 - £4,890.3 million), or 45% (2019 — 41%) of
external indebtedness, denominated in .S, dollars and £1,118.1 million (2019 - £1,022.9 million), or 9% (2019
— 9%) of cxtemnal indebtedness, denominated in euros (see note 17). The group has a programme in place to
mitigate the risk of losscs arising from adverse changes in foreign currency exchange rates which uses a number
ol derivative [inancial instruments., When taking into consideration cross currency intercst rate swaps and
forelgn currency forward rate contracts, the majority of external debt is hedged against foreign currency
exchange rate risk.

lor the year ended 31 December 2020 the group had loreign currency gains of £170.7 million (2019 — gains of
£200.7 million).

The gains for the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 were primarily due to the strengthening of pound

sterling relative to the 118, dollar in respect of the 1.8, dollar denominated debt issued by the group, partially
offset by the weakening of pound sterling relative to the euro in respect of eure derominated debt.
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Sensitivity analysis of changes in foreign currency exchange rates

For the presentation of market risks, IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires sensitivity analysis
that shows the effects of hvpothetical changes of foreign currency exchange rates of relevant risk variables on
profit or loss and sharcholders’ equity. The periodic effects are determined by relating the hypothetical changes
in risk variables to the balance of financial instruments at the reporting date. It is assumed that the balance at the
reporting date is representative of the year as a wholc.

Currency risks are defined by IFRS 7 as arising on account of financial instruments being denominated in a
currency other than the functiona currency and being of a monetary nature. Relevant risk variables are
generally all non-functional currencies in which the group has hnancial liabilities, excluding amounts due to
parent undertakings.

The currency sensitivity analysis is based on the following assumptions:

Major non-derivative monctary financial instruments (liquid assets, receivables and finance lease liabilities) are
directly denominated in the functional currency. There arc therefore no foreign exchange fluctuations in respect
of thesc instruments which have an ¢ffect on profit or loss or sharcholders’ equity. Interest income and expense
from financial instruments are also cither recorded in the functional curreney or transferred to the functional
currency using derivatives.

The group has a number of derivative instruments with various counterparties to manage its exposure lo
changes in foreign currency exchange raics. Exchange rate fluctuations, on which the financial instruments are
based, affect gains or losses on derivatives in the finance income or finance costs lines, respectively, of the
Group Income Statement.

The tellowing table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the pound sterling against
LS, dollar and euro exchange rates with all other variables remaining constant. of the group's profit before tax.
Due to foreign exchange translation of monctary assets and liabilities, the impact of translating the net assets of
foreign operations into sterling is excluded from the sensitivity analysis:

Increase/ Effect on
decrease in profit/(loss)
exchange before tax
rates £ million
2029
Sterling/ULS. dollar +20% 456.6
Sterling/U.5. doliar <20% (2.028.6)
Sterling/euro +20% 3598
Sterling/euro <20% (25.4)
2019
Sterling/U.S. dollar +20% 821.3
Sterling/U.S. doliar -20% (1,232,
Sterling/euro +20% 266.2
Sterling/curo -20% (116.3)

Liquidity risk and capital managemens

The company is a wholly owned subsidiary and its ultimate parent company is Liberty Global ple. Capital
management policies arc operated at a Virgin Media group level by the management of Liberty Global ple. The
agreements that govern the Virgin Media group's indebtedness set out financial maintenance tests and restrictive
covenants, and it is the policy of the Virgin Media group to maintain adequate headroom against these tesis and
covenants.
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The group's business is capital intensive and the group is highly leveraged. The group has significant cash
requiremenis for operating costs, capital expenditure and interest expense. The level of the group’s capital and
operating expenditures are affected by significant amounts of capital reguired to connect customers to the
network, expand and upgrade the network and offer new services. Cash on hand, together with cash from
operations and an undrawn credit facility, are expected 1o be sufficient for the group’s cash requirements
through to 12 months from the date of this report. The group has significant scheduled repayments that may
need to be financed through means other than reliance on cash flow from operations, such as raising additional
debt or equity, refinancing the existing facility, possible loans from parent undertakings or related parties, sale
of assets or other means. It may not be possible to obtain adequate {inancing, or scll assets at all. or on
favourable terms, or the terms of the senior credit facilily or senior notes may prevent the group from incurring
additional indebtedness or selling asscls.

As of 31 December 2020 the group had £12,020.5 million of external debt (including finance leases, vendor
financing and net of deferred finance costs) outstanding. compared 1o £11.958.4 million as of 31 December
2019 and cash and cash equivalents of £19.3 million compared to £33.9 million at 31 December 2019,

The principal amount outstanding under the sentor credit facility at 31 December 2020 was £3,981.6 million
(2019 - £4,014.6 million). The senior credit facility comprises two term facilitics denominated in pounds
sterling of £400.0 million and £499.0 million respectively (2019 — £400.0 million and £499.0 million), one term
facility denominated in U.S. dollar of £2,412.1 million (2019 - £2,482.0 million), one term facility denominated
in cure of £670.3 millien (2019 - £633.4 million) and enc revolving facility of £1.000.0 million (2019 -
£1,000.0 million). At 31 December 2020, £3,981.6 million (2019 - £4,014.6 millioen) of the term facilitics net of
issue costs had been drawn. The group had £675.0 million available of its revolving credit facilities for bank
guarantees and standby letters of credit.

The group docs not have anv scheduled principal payments on its senior notes and senior credit facility until
2027. However, if the group was unable to meet repayment conditions or service these obligations through cash
flows from operations, then it would need 1o secure additional funding such as raising additional debt or equity,
refinancing the existing facility, sclling asseis or using other means. 1t may not be possible to obtain financing
or sell assets, at all or on {avourable terms, or the group may be contractually prevented by the terms of its
senior notes or senior credit facility from incurring additional indebtedness or selling assets.

A maturity analysis of financial liabilitics, outstanding at 3[ December, showing the remaining contractual
undiscounted amounts pavable, including interest commitments, is shown below:

Less Greater than
than 1 year 1to S years 5 years Total
2020 £ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facility, scnior notes and senior
secured notes 487.0 2,096.8 10,898.2 13,482.0
Vendor financing 2.026.1 97.9 6.3 2,130.3
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 41.1 108.1 191.4 340.6
Derivative contracts 34.6 440.7 280.6 7559
2019
Senior credit facility, senior notes and senior
sceured notes 545.3 3,160.3 949597 13.665.3
Vendor financing 1,871.7 81.1 - 1,952.8
Finance lease and hire purchase contracts 8.6 28.2 134.6 1714
Derivative contracts 65.8 198.6 272.0 536.4
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21

The above amounts exclude other financial liabifities, such as trade payables, which are all repayable in less
than one year. Amounts owed Lo parent and group undertakings have also been excluded as they are repayable
on demand.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The group's financial instruments that are exposed to coneentrations of credit
risk consist primarily of cash, trade receivables and derivative contracts.

At 31 December 2020. the group had £19.3 million (2019 - £33.9 million) in cash and cash equivalents. These
cash and cash equivalents arc on deposit with a number of major financial institutions and, as part of the group's
cash management process, regular ¢valuations of the eredit standing of these institutions are performed using a
range of metrics. The group has not experienced any losses in cash balances and management do not believe it
is exposed to any significant credit risk on its cash balances.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade reccivables arce limited because of the large number of
customers and their distribution across a wide geographic arca. The group performs credit evaluations of its
business customers” financial condition and generally does not require collateral. No single group or cusiomer
represents greater than 10% of total accounts receis able.

Concentrations of credit risk with respect to derivative contracts are focused within a [imited number of
international financial institutions with which the group transacis and relate only to derivatives with recorded
asset balances. The [iberty Global group performs regular reviews of the financial institutions with which it
transacts as to their credit worthiness and financial condition. The group includes a credin risk adjustment based
upon the credit defauit swap spread in the valuation of derivative instruments, however, the group does not
expect there to be any significant non-performance risks associated with its counterpartics.

Financial Instruments
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities - Financial Risk Management

The company and group have obligations in a combination of US dollars, curos, and pounds sterling at fixed
and variable intercst rates. As a result the group is exposed to variability in its cash flows and earnings resulting
from changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

The group’s objective in managing its exposure 1o intercst rates and foreign currency cxchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of its earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The group has
established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts.  Subsidiarics of Virgin Media Finance PLC hold financial instruments which hedge the forcign
currency risk of debt issued by its fellow group undertakings. It is the group's policy not to enter into derivative
financial instruments for speculative trading purposes, nor to enter into derivative financial instruments with a
level of complexity or with a risk that is greater than the cxposure to be managed. The amounts below include
amounts relating to short term as well as long term payables.

With the exception of a limited number of interest rate swaps. the group has eleeted not 1o designate derivative
instruments as accounting hedges, although these remain ¢conomic hedges.
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The fair values of derivative financial instruments recognised in the Group Balance Sheet are as follows:

Inctuded within current assets:

Fair value hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency inlcrest rate swaps

Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rale swaps
Foreign Currency Forward Contract

Trcluded within non-current assets:
Fair value hedges
Intcrest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Intcrest rate swaps
Cross-currency intercsi rate swaps

Included within current liabilities:
Derivatives not designated as hedges
Interest ratc swaps
Cross-currency intcrest rate swaps
Foreign Currency l'orward Contract

Included within non-current liabilities:

Derivatives not desighated as hedges
Interest rate swaps
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

2020 2019

£ million £ million

5.2 17.7

- 5.8

38.4 27.6

22.6 31.3

B 0.4 -

66.6 82.4

- 8.9

- 37.6

110.7 73.5
169.0 310.9 ]

279.7 430.9

93.2 126.1

53.1 7.0

1.9 0.5

148.2 133.6

2957 241.0

320 1618

607.7 402.8

Cross-currency interest rate swaps - hedging the principal and interest payments of senior notes and

senior credit facility

The terms of the group’s outstanding cross-currency interest rate swaps, which are used to mitigate the interest
and foreign exchange rate risks relating 1o the pound sterling value of principal and interest payments on U.S.
dollar and curo denominated senior notes and senior secured notes at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Final maturity
date of hedges

January 2021 - January 2028
January 2025

July 2028

July 2028

Hedge type

Not designated
Not designated
Not designated
Not designated

59

Notional Notional
amount amount

due from due to
counterparty counterparty
million millien
$11,499.0 £8.0699.5
£1,005.5 $1.445.0
$166.6 €150.0
€3500.0 £445.6

Weighted
average
remaining
life

5.5

4.1

7.5

7.5
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Interest rate swaps - hedging of interest rate sensitive obligations

As of 31 December 2020, the group had owtstanding interest rate swap agreements to manage the exposure to
variability in future cash flows on the interest payments associated with its senior eredit facility which accrues
at variable rates based on LIBOR. The group has also entered into interest ralc swap agreements 1o manage its
exposure to changes in the fair value of certain debit obligations duc to interest rate fluctuations. 1he interest
rate swaps allow the group 1o receive or pay interest based on six month LIBOR or fixed rates in exchange for
payments or receipts of interest at six month LIBOR or fixed rates.

The terms of the group’s outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2020 werc as follows:

Final maturity

date of hedge Hedge type Pay fixed rate Receive fixed rate
Weighted Weighted
Notional average Notional average
million remaining life millien remaining life
January 2021 - Janaury 228 Not designated £14.402.4 38 £3.530.8 4.2

The notional amounts of multiple derivative instruments that mature within the same calendar month are shown
in aggregate.

Interest rate swaptions

‘The group has cntered inlo various interest rate swap options (swaplions), which give the right, but no
obligation, to enter into certain interest rate swap contracts at set dates in the future, with cach such contract
having a life of no morc than three years, At the transaction date, the strike ralc of each of these contacts was

above the corresponding market rate.

The terms of outstanding interest rate swap option contracts at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Notional Weighted Weighted

amount Underlying  average option average

due from swap expiration strike

Final maturity date Hedge type counterparty currency period rate
million %o

October 2022 - January 2027  Not designated £1,936.2 GBp 02 241

Basis Swaps

The terms of outstanding basis swap contracts at 31 December 2020 were as follows:

Weighted

average

Notional remaining

Final maturity date Hedge type amount life
million

July 202] Not designated £900.0 0.3

July 2021 Not designated $3.300.0 0.5
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Foreign currency forward options and forward contracts

The group has entered into external foreign currency forward options and foreign currency forward contracts in
order to manage foreign currency exposure risk with respect to Indian rupee (TNR).

Foreign currency forward options
The following foreign currency forward options with a third party were in place at 31 December 2020

Exchange currency Notional amount
million
Indian rupee £0.5

Foreign currency forward contracts
The foltowing foreign currency forward contracts with a related party were in place at 31 December 2020:

Maturity dates Currency purchase forward Currency sold forward

milllion milllion
January 2021 - December 2021 $43.7 £33.9
January 2021 - December 2021 €49.9 £44.6
January 2021 - December 2021 £39 $5.2

Interest Rate Caps and Floors

I'rom time to time, we enter into interest rate cap and {loor agreements, Purchased interest rate caps lock in a
maximum interest rate 1{ variable rates risc, but also allow our company to benefit from declines in market
rates. Purchascd interest rate floors protect us {rom interest rates falling below a certain level, generally to
mailch a floating rate floor on a debt instrument. At December 31, 2020, the pound sterling equivalent notional
amounts of our purchased interest rate caps and floors were £1,568.dmillion and £3,317.4 million, respectively.

Cash flow hedges

The group has elected not to designate derivative instruments as accounting hedges, although these remain
cconomic hedges. The group has recognised effective portion of gains on losses in the unrcalised gains and
losses in the Group Statement of Comprehensive Income as result of historic derivative instruments that were
designated as cash flow hedges and hedges of commercial operational contracts.

Changes in the fair values of derivative instruments are recorded as gains or losses on derivative instruments in
the Group Income Statement in the period in which they occur. The following table presents movements in
Other Comprehensive Income related to cash flow hedges for the year ended 31 December 2020:

Cross
currency
interest rate
Total swaps Tax effect
£ million £ million £ million
Balance at 31 December 2019 10.7 (10.2) 209
Amounts recognised in Statement of
Comprehensive Income reclassified to earnings 4.7 4.7 -
Balance at 31 December 2020 15.4 (5.5) 20.9

Included within amounts reclassified to carnings is £4.7 million (2019 - £5.4 million} of net losses that have
been recveled from the cash flow hedge reserve through the income statement in respect of swaps for which
either designation was revoked, or the hedged instrument was settled as part of refinancing activitics.
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Fair value hedges
Far derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as fair valuc accounting hedges, the gain or loss on
derivatives is recogniscd in the Group Income Statement in the period in which they oceur, together with any
changes in the fair value of the hedged debt obligations due to changes in the hedged risks.

Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

Set ow below is a comparison by category of carrying values and fair values of the group’s financial assets and
financial liabitities. where different, as at 31 December:

2020 2020 2019 2019
Carrying value  Fair value Carrying value Fair value
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Senior credit facility (3,967.6) (3,961.2) (3.998.4) (4,126.8)
5.25% 1.8, doliar senior notes duc 2022 - - (38.9) (39.7)
4.875% VLS. dollar scnior notes due 2022 - - (54.1) {35.0)
5.123% pound sterling senior notes due 2022 - - (44.2) (44.0)
6% [1.5. dollar senior notes due 2024 - - (372.6) (387.3)
4.5% euro senior notes due 2025 - - (386.7) (400.7)
5.75% U.S. dollor senior notes due 2025 - - 291.4) (302.3)
6.0% pound sterling senior secured notes duc 2023 - - (539.9) (575.6)
5.5% U.S. dollar senior secured notes due 2026 (5346.3) (572.7) (561.7) (595.9)
4.875% pound sterling senior sccured notes due 2027 - - (523.6) (549.9)
5.0% pound sterling senior secured notes duc 2027 (672.5) (734.9) (672.1) (717.6)
6.253% pound sterling senior secured notes duc 2029 - - (300.7) (385.3)
5.509% U.S dolar scnior seeured notes due 2029 (1,046.4) (1.134.2) (1,077.3) (1,142.4)
5.25% pound sterling scnior secured notes due 2029 {340.1; (367.9) (340.1) (368.9)
4.25% pound sterling senior secured notes duc 2030 (627.3) (635.7) (396.) (408.5)
4.50% .S doliar senior secured notes due 2030 (671.8) (704.1) - -
4.125% pound sterling seniar secured notes due 2030 (47713 (4900.9) - -
5.0% U1.S dollar senior notes due 2030 (674.3) (707.9) - -
3.75% curo senior notes duc 2030 (445.3) (457.1) - -

The carrying values of amounts not [isted above approximate their fair values.

The group uses the following hicrarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial instruments by
valuation technigue:

Level 1 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical asscts or liabilities,

level 2 Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for similar assets ot liabilities; or
Unadjusted quoted prices for identical or similar assets or fiabilities in markets that are not active; or
Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability .

Level 3 Unobservable inputs for the asset or hability.

The group endeavours to utilise the best available information in measuring fair value. Financial assets and
liabifities are classified in their entirety based on the lowest level of inpul that is significant to the fair value
neasurement.
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As at 31 December 2020, the fair vatue of the financial instruments held by the group is as follows:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
£ million £ million £ million £ million
Financial assers at fair value

Cash, short term deposits and restrieted cash 59.0 - - 59.0
Cross-currency intercst rale swaps - 191.6 - 191.6
[ntcrest rate swaps - 154.3 - 154.3
Forcign currency forward rate contracls - 04 - 0.4
59.0 316.3 - 4053

Financtal liabilities at fair value
Senior credit facility 3,961.2 - - 3.961.2
Senior notes 1,165.0 - - 1,165.0
Senior secured notes 4,635.4 - - 4,635.4
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 3651 - 365.1
Intcrest ratc swaps - 370.9 18.0 388.9
Foreign currency forward rate contracts - 1.9 - 1.9
9,761.6 737.9 18.0 10,517.5

In estimating the fair value of other financial instruments, the group used the following methods and

assumptions:

Cash and short term deposits, and restricted cash: The carrying amounis reported in the Group Balance Sheet

approximate fair value due to the short maturity and nature of these financial instruments.

Derivative financial instrumernis: As a result of the group's financing activitics, it is exposed to market risks
from changes in interest and forcign currency exchange rates, which may adverscly affect its operating results
and financial position. When deemed appropriate, the group minimises risks from interest and foreign currency
exchange rate Nuctuations through the use ol derivative financial instruments. The foreign currency forward
ratc contracls, interest rate swaps (excluding swaptions) and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued using
broker quotations, or market transactions in cither the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-
performance risk. As such, these derivative instrumenis are classified within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.
Due 10 the lack of lLevel 2 inputs for the swaption valuations, the group helieve these valuations [all under

Level 3 ofthe fair value hierarchy.

Senior notes, senior secured notes and senior credir facility: The fair values of the senior credit facility, senior
notes and senior sccured noles in the above table are based on the quoted market prices in active markets for the
underlving third party debt and incorporate non-performance risk. Accordingly, the inputs used to value the

senior notes and senior secured notes are classified within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

[During the year. there were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2 and Level 3.
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On 30 November 2020 the group sold its Trish subsidiary UPC Broadband Ireland Limited w another subsidiary of
Liberty Global. Newco Holdeo 5 Limited, that is outside of the Virgin Media Group. This has been reported in the
current year as a discontinued operation. Financial information relating to the discontinued operation for the period
to the date of disposal is set out below,

Financial performance and cash flow information

‘The financial information presented is for the 11 month period ended 30 November 2020 (2020 column} and the
vear ended 31 December 2019 (2019 column).

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Revenue 308.2 3325
Expenses (299.8) (292.9
Profit before income tax 84 39.6
Income tax cxpense - -
Profit after income 1ax i ] 8.4 396
Gain on sale 668.5 -
Profit from discontinued operation 676.9 39.6
Exchange difference on translation w4 (9.5)
Other comprehensive income from discontinued operation (9.4) (9.5}

For cash flow information in relation to the discontinued operation please sce the Group Cash Flow Statcment
on page 26,

Details of the sale of the subsidiary

2020
£ million
Consideration receivable:

Cash 478.8
Carrving amounts of net liabilities sold (189.7)
Gain on sale hefore income tax 668.5
Income lax on gain -
Gain on sale after tax 668.5
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The carrving amounts of asscts and liabilities as at the date of sale (30 November 2020) were:

30 November 2020
£ millign
Intangible assets 165.6
Property. plant and equipment 369.8
Other long term asscts 3.0
Inventory 2.5
Trade and other receivables 41.1
Cash 13.3
Total assets 595.3
Trade and other payables (120.0)
Pension liabitiy (6.1)
Other long term payables {658.9)

Net liabilities (189.7)

23 Equity share capital

2020 2019
£ 000 £ 000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
76,184 (2015 - 76,184) ordinary shares of £1 cach 76 76

24 Share-based payments

The group’s employees are entitled to partake in Liberty Global ple share-based schemes. These share schemes
consist ol stock options and performance plans including stock appreciation rights ("SARs™), performance-
based share appreciation rights (“PSARs™), restricted stock. restricted stock units ("RSUs™) and perlformance
share units (“PSUs™). The schemes provide share based compensation to individuals under the conditions
describe below. The grant date fair values for options, share appreciation rights (SARs) and performance-based
share appreciation rights (PSARs) are estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and the grant
date fair valucs for restricted share units (RSUs) and performance-based restricted share units (PSUs) are based
upon the closing share price of Liberty Global ordinary shares on the date of grant, We calculate the expected
life of options and SARs granted by Liberty Global to employces based on historical exercise trends. The
arrangements are equity seitled with the employees. Liberty Global recharges the group for share schemes made
available 1o the group employecs.

Full detailed information on the group’s share based payvments arce disclosed in the financial stalements of
Virgin Media Inc. which are available on Liberty Global's website at www liberty global.com.

The income statement charge for share based payments for the year was £51.6 million (2019: £45.1 million).

~
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Liberty Global Share Incentive Plans

As of December 31, 2020, Liberty Global is authorized to grant incentive awards under the Liberty Global 2014
Incentive Plan. Generally, the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors may grant non-
qualified sharc options, SARs. restricted shares, RSUs, cash awards, performance awards or any combination of
the foregoing (collectively, awards). Ordinary shares issuable pursuant to awards made under these incentive
plans will be made available from cither authorized but unissued shares or shares that have been issued but
reacquired by Liberty Global. Awards may be granted at or above fair value in any ¢lass of ordinary shares. The
maximum number of Liberly Global shares with respect to which awards may be issued under the Liberty
Global 2014 Incentive Plan is 155 million (of which no more than 50.25 million sharcs may consist of Class
B ordinary shares), subject to anti-dilution and other adjustment provisions in the respective plan. As of
December 31, 2020, the Liberty Global 2014 [ncentive Plan had 60,799,181 ordinary shares available for grant.

Awards (other than perfprmance-bascd awards) under the Liberty Global 204 Incentive Plan generally (i) vest
ta) prior 10 2020, 12.5% on the six month anniversary of the grant date and then at a raie of 6.25% cach quarter
thercafter and (b) commencing in 2020, annually over a threc-year period and (i1} expire (1) prior to 2019,
seven years after the grant date and (2) commencing in 2019, 10 years after the grant date. RSUs vest on the
date of the first annual general meeting of Liberty Global sharcholders following the grant date.

Liberty Global Performance Awards

The following is a summary of the material terms and conditions with respect to Liberty Global's performance-
bascd awards for certain executive officers and key employees for which awards were granted under the Liberty
Global Incentive Plan and the Virgin Media Incentive Plan.

Liberty Global PSUs

In April 2019, the compensation committee of Liberty Global's board of directors approved the grant of PSUs
o executive officers and key employees (the 2019 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the
achicvement of a specified OCF CAGR during the two-year period ending December 31, 2020. Fhe 2019 PSUSs
include over- and under-performance pavout opportunitics should the OCF CAGR exceed or fail to mect the
target, as applicable. A performance range of 50% to 125% of the target OCI CAGR will generally result in
award recipients earning 50% 1o 150% of their 1arget 2019 PSUs, subject to reduction or forfeiture based on
individual performance. The carned 2019 PSUs will vest 50% on April 1, 2021 and 50% on October 1, 2021.

During 2018, the compensation committee of Liberty Global’s board of directors approved the grant of PSUs to
executive officers and key employecs (the 2018 PSUs) pursuant to a performance plan that is based on the
achicvement of a specified OCF CAGR during the two-year period that ended on December 31, 2019, The 2018
PSUs include oyver- and under performance pay out opportunities should the OCL CAGR exceed or fail 10 mect
the target, as applicable. A performance range of 509 to 125% of the target GCF CAGR will generally result in
award recipients earning 30% to 150% of their target 2018 PSUs, subject to reduction or forfeiture based on
individual performance. The carned 2018 PSUs will vest 50% on each of April 1, 2020 and 50% on Ociober 1,
2020. The target OCF CAGR for the 2018 PSUs was determined on October 26. 2018 and. accordingly,
associated compensation expense has been recognized prospectively from that date.

In VFebruary 2016, Liberty Global's compensation committee approved the grant of PSUs 1o exccutive officers
and key employees (the 2016 PSUs). The performance plan for the 2016 PSUs covered a three-year period that
cnded on December 31, 2018 and included a performance target based on the achievement of a specified
compound annual growth ratc (CAGR) in an Adjusted EBITIXA metric (as defined in the applicable underlying
agreement}. The performance target was adjusted for events such as acquisitions, dispositions and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates that affect comparability (Adjusted EBITDA CAGR). The 2016 PSUs, as
adjusted through the 2017 Award Modification, required delivery of an Adjusted UBITDA CAGR of 6.0%
during the three-year performance period for liberty Global depending on the respective class of shares
underlying the award. Participants earned 82.3% of their targeted awards under the 2016 PSUs. which vested
50% on cach of April 1, 2019 and October 1, 2019.
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Share-based payments (continued)

Liberty Glohal Challenge Performance Awards

Effective 24 June 2013, Liberly Global’s compensation committee approved the Challenge Performance
Awards, which consisted solely of PSARs for Liberty Global’s senior executive officers and a combination of
PSARs and PSUs for other excewtive officers and key emplovecs. Lach PSU represented the right to receive
one Liberty (Global or LILAC Class A or Class C ordinary sharg, as applicable. The performance criteria for the
Challenge Performance Awards was based on the participant’s performance and achievement of individual
poals in each of the ycars 2013, 2014 and 2015, As a result of satisfving performance conditions, 100% of the
then outstanding Challenge Perlormance Awards vested and became fully cxercisable on 24 June 2016. The
PSARs have a term of seven vears and base prices equal to the respective market closing prices of the
applicable class on the grant date.

Virgin Media Stock Incentive Plans

Fquity awards were granted to certain of the group’s employees, prior to Liberty Global's acquisition of Virgin
Media in June 2013, under certain incentive plans maintained and administered by the group and no new grants
will be made under these incentive plans. The cquity awards granted include stock options, restricted shares,
RSUs and performance awards. Awards under the VM Incentive Plan have a 10-year term and become fully
exercisable within five years of continued employment.

Reserves

Equiry share capital
The balance classificd as sharc capital represents the nominat value on issue of the company's equity share
capital, comprising £1 ordinary shares.

Share premium account
Share premium represents the amount of consideration reccived for the company's equily share capital in excess
of the nominal value of shares issucd.

Cther capital reserves comprising merger reserve and capital contributions
The results of subsidiary undertakings acquired through group reorganisations have given rise to the
requirement to make adjusiments on consolidation in the merger reserve.

Unrealised gains and losses
This reserve records the portion of gain or loss on hedging instruments thal are determined o be effective
hedges, and the exchange differences on retranslation of foreign operations.

Foreign currency translation reserve
This reserve records the gain or loss on the retranslation of subsidiary undertakings with functionat currencies

other than pound sterling.

Retained earnings
This reserve records all current and prior period retained profit and losses.

Capital commitments

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the accounts 431.2 331.7
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Contingencies

On 19 March 2014, the UK government announced a change in legislation with respect to the charging of VAT
in connection with prompt paymem discounts such as those that the group offer to fixed-line telephony
customers, This change, which 1ok effect on 1 Mav 2014, impacted the group and some of its competitors. The
UK tax authority issued a decision in the fourth quarter of 2015 challenging the group’s application of the
prompt pavment discount rules prior to the 1 May 2014 change in legislation. The group appealed this decision.
As part of the appeal process, the group were required to make aggregate payments of £67.0 miliion,
comprising of the challenged amount of £63.7 million (which the group paid during the fourth quarter of 2015}
and related interest of £3.3 million (which the group paid during the first quarter of 2016). No provision was
recorded by the group at that time as the likelihood of loss was not considered 1o be probable. The aggregate
amount paid does not include penaltics, which could be significant in the cvent that penaities were o be
assessed. Tn September 2018, the court rejected the group’s appeal and ruled in favour of the UK tax authority.
Accordingly, during the third quarter of 2018, the group recorded a proviston for litigation of £63.7 million and
related interest expense of £3.3 million in the group's income statement. The First Tier Tribunal gave
permission to appeal to the Upper Tribunal and the group submitted grounds for appeal on 22 February 2019,
The group subscquently lost the appeal at the Upper Tribunal and in October 2020 our request to further appeal
the casc was denied by the Court of Appeal.

Pension and other post-retirement benefits

The group operates two defined benefit schemes in the UK, the N1T. Pension Plan and the 1999 ntl Pension
Scheme which provide both pensions in retirement and death benefits to members. Pension benefiss are related
to the members® final salary at retivement and their length of service.

As at 31 December 2019, the group alse held a defined benelil scheme in Ireland, Virgin Media Ireland Fimited
Pefined Benelit Plan, which was disposed of with the sale of its subsidiary UPC Broadband Ireland Limited on
30 November 2020 (sce notc 22).

Defined contribution plans

The group contribuies to the Virgin Media sponsored group personal pension plans of cligible employees.
Contributions are charged to the Group Income Statement as they become payable, in accordance with the rules
of the plans.

Contributions 1o the defined contribution plans during the period were £29.5 million (2019 - £27.6 million).
The amount of outstanding contibutions at 31 December 2020 included within current liabilities was £4.2
million (2019 - £4.1 million).

Defined benefit plans
The group recognises any actuarial pains and losses in each period in the Group Statement of Comprehensive
Income.

* 1999 ntl Pension Scheme

A subsidiary, Virgin Media Limited, operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits (71999 ntl
Pension Plan™). The plan has never been opened to new entrants except when the plan began and subsequently
on 31 May 2007, on both occasions new members were transferred from other existing plans, The Plan was
closed to future accrual on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held scparately from those of the
company, being invested in units of exempt unit trusts. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions to
separatcly administered trust funds. The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualified
actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using the projected unit credit method,

* NTL Pension Plan

A subsidiary, Virgin Media [imited, operates a funded pension plan providing defined benefits ("NTL Pension
Plan™). The pension ptan was closed to new cntrants as of 6 April 1998. The Plan was closed 1o future acerual
on 31 January 2014, The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the company, in an independently
administered trust. The plan is funded by the payment of contributions to this scparately administered trust.
The pension costs are determined with the advice of independent qualilied actuaries on the basis of triennial
valuations using the projected unit credit method.

The plans’ assets are measured at fair value. The plans’ liabilities are measured using the projected unit method
and discounted at the current rate of return on a high quality corperate bond.
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28 Pension and other post-retirement benefits (continued)

The table below provides summary information on the group’s defined benefit plans:

Projected benefit oblipation
Fair valuc of plan asscts
Net asset

Net periodic pension cost
Net defined benefit asset represented by:

Net defined benefit lizbility
Net defined benefit assct

Movements in the defined benelit assets and liabilitics are as follows:

Defined benefit obligation

2020 2019
£ million £ million
UK UK Ireland UK

2020

Balance at 1 January
Included in income
statement

(381.0) (530.0) (33.1}

Current admin/service cost - - -
Past service cost - - -
Interest (cost)/income (1t.d)  (14.0)

Included in OC1

Actuarial (loss)/gain arising from:
Changes in demographic
assumptions

Changes in financial

assumptions

Experience adjustments

Return on plan assets

excluding interest income

34 (0.6) ; _

(76.0)  (60.5)
24 07 0.2 -

—
-
o

—

'

Other

Contributions paid by the
cmployer

Effects of movements in
exchange rates

Benefits paid

- - 1.9 -
24.0 0.6

Balance at 31 December (635.5) (581.0y (36.0)

Fair value of plan assets

£ million

667.4

(1.7)

0.7) 13.5

78.0

- - - 0.9

(30.2)

727.9

2020 2019

£ million £ million
{635.5) (617.0
7279 695.5
92.4 78.5

0.8 1.9

- (7.9)
92.4 86.4
92.4 78.5

Net defined benefit

asset/{liability)
2019 2020 2019
£ million £ million £ million
UK  freland UK UK  Ireland
619.7 253 864 89.7 (7.8)
(1.6y - (1.7 (1.6} -
17.0 0.3 2.1 24 (0.2)
- - 34 (0.6) -
- - (76.03  (60.5) 4.9
- . (2.4) 0.7 0.2
33.8 2.8 78.0 538 28
0.9 1.7 0.9 0.9 1.7
- (1.6) - - 0.3
(22.4)  (0.6) 1.7 1.6 -
667.4  28.1 92.4 86.4 7.9

1999 ntl Pension Scheme and NTI1. Pension Plan have been disclosed within the “UTK™ figures.
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Virgin Media Ircland |.imited Defined Benefit Plan is shown within the “Ireland™ figures in 2019, this was
disposed of with the sale of the group’s subsidiary UPC Broadband Ireland Limited on 30 November 2020 (scc

note 22).

The group’s pension plan weighted-average asset allocations by asset category at 31 December 2020 and 31
December 2019 were as follows:

2020 UK long
term rate
of return UK total
£ million
Equitics 4.7% 198.5
Property 4.7% 1.9
Corporate bonds 1.2% 3397
Government bonds 0.7% 57.1
Hedge funds 4.2% 0.1
Insurance policy (buy-in) 1.2% 195.1
Cash and other 0.7% {64.3)
Total market value of assels 7219
Present value of plan liabilities (635.5)
Net pension assel e 92.4
2019 Ireland
UK leng long term
term rate rate of
of return UK total return ireland total
£ million £ million
Equities 5.3% 81.7 2.2% 0.8
Property 5.3% 2.3 - -
Corporatc bonds 2.0% 196.7 2.2% 13.2
Government bonds 1.3% 69.0 - -
Hedge funds 4.8% 89.2 - -
Insurance policy (buyv-in) 2.0% 182.5 - -
Cash and other 1.3% 46.0 2.2% 4.1
Total market value of asscts 667.4 o 28.1
Present value of plan liabilitics (581.0) (36.0)
Net pension assel/(liability) 86.4 (7.9)
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28 Pension and other post-retirement benefits {(continued)
The trustees of NTL Pension Plan purchased an insurance contract that will pay an income stream to the plan
which is expected to maich all finure cash outflows in respect of certain liabilities, The fair value of this
insurance contract is presented as an assct of the plan and is measured based on the future cash {lows 1o be

reccived under the contract discounted using the same discount rate used to measure the associated liabilitics.

Actuarial assumptions
The [ellowing are the prineipal actuarial assumplions at the reporting date {expressed as weighted averages):

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs were as follows:

2020 2019

UK UK  lreland
Discount rate 1.2% 2.0% 1.2%
IFuture salary increases 2.9% 2.9% 0.0%

The assumptions relating o longevity undertying the pension liabilitics at the balance sheet date are based on
standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevitv. The
assumptions arc cquivalent to expecting a 60-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

UK
2020 2019
Current pensioner aged 60 (male) 27.2 273
Current pensioner aged 60 (female) 29.1 29.1
Future retiree upon reaching 60 (male) 28.7 28.8
Future retiree upon reaching 60 {female) 30.6 30.6

Sensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is scnsitive to the assumptions sel out above. The following
table summarises how the impact on the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period would have
increased/(decreased) as 4 result of a change in the respective assumptions by 0.25 percent.

2020 2019

UK UK Ireland
Discount rate {(26.5) {(24.1) (1.4)
Inflation 2.6 23 0.4

Int valuing the assets of the UK pension fund at 31 December 2020, mortality assumptions have been made as
indicated above. If life expectancy had been changed to assume that all members of the fund lived for onc year
longer, the value of the reported liabilities at 31 December 2020 would have increased by £28.6 million before
deferred tax for the UK pensions.

The above sensitivities are based on the average duration of the benefit obligation determined at the date of the
last full actuarial valuation at 31 December 2020 and arc applicd to adjust the defined benefit obligation at the
end of the reporting period for the assumptions concerned. Whilst the analvsis does not take account of the tull
distribution of cash flows expected under the plan, it does provide an approximation to the sensitivity of the
assumnptions shown.

Funding
The group expects 1o contribute £2.5 million to the defined benefit pension plans in 2021.
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29 Related party transactions
During the vear, the group entered into transactions in the ordinary course of business with other relaied partics.

Transactions entered inte during the vear, and trading balances outstanding a1 31 December with other related
partics, are as follows:

Services Interest Amotnts Amounts
rendered by charged to owed by owed to
related related related related
party party party party
Related party £ million £ million £ million £ million
Parent undertakings
2020 - - 4901.2 (160.4)
2019 - - - (52.2)
Fellow subsidiary
undertakings
2020 - - 24.8 -
2019 - - 1.6 -
Liberty Global group
undertakings
2020 (325.7) 276.9 1,695.4 (90.0)
2019 (225.4) 283.8 353 (48.9)

Parent undertakings

The group is headed by Virgin Media Inc. and has been indebted 1o the group, which receives interest income
according 1o the terms of cach loan agreement. The group recharges the ultimale parent company for certain
costs directly attributed to the operations of that company including allocable payroil and related expensces.

Fellow subsidiary undertakings

The net recovery of debis by Virgin Media Limited relating to the customers ol fellow subsidiary undertakings,
namely Virgin Media Mobile Finance Limited, through centralised debt collection and treasury operations.
generates trading balances which are offset by operating expenses and capital purchases that are also recharged
bv Virgin Media Limited. Virgin Mcdia Limited is an indirect subsidiarv of the company whilst Virgin Media
Mobile Finance Limited is outside the group headed by the company.

Liberty Group undertakings

The company’s ultimate parent is Liberty Global ple which also controls the group and the Virgin Media group.
Certain debt raised by the group has been passed up to Liberty Global entitics that sit cutside the Virgin Media
group. The debt of £4,798.7 million (see note 12) attracts interest which Liberty Global entitics pay to the group
according to the terms of each loan arrangement.

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

The terms of the loans pavable to parent undertakings are as outlined in note 16. Certain expenscs are
specifically attributable to cach company in the group. Where costs are incurred by Virgin Media Limited on
behalf of other group companies, expenses are allocated to the other group companies on a basis that. in the
opinion of the directors, is reasonable.
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29 Related party transactions (continued)

Compensation ¢f key management personnel (including directors)
The compensation paid or pavable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Short-term cmployee benefits 8.0 10.5
Post-employment benelits 0.1 0.1
Non-equity incentive plan 0.3 33
Share Dased payinenls 48 4.6
13.2 18.5

Key management represents directors and members of Virgin Media®s executive commitice.

30 Principal subsidiary undertakings

The investments in which the group held at least 20% of the nominal value of any class of share capital. all of
which are unlisted, are as follows. All are registered in England and Wales unless otherwise noted.

Praportion
of
voting rights
and
. . Principal
Subsidiary Holding  shares held o
activites
Direct shareholdings of Virgin Media Finance PLC
Virgin Media Investment 1oldings Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Indirect shareholdings
ntl Business Limited Ordinary 106% Telecoms
ntl CableComms Group I.imited Ordinary 10(% Holding
ntl Glasgow b> Ordinan 56% Telecoms
ntl Kirklees Ordinary 52% Telecoms
Virgin Media Business Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Media Payments Limited Ordinary 100% Collections
Virgin Media Sentor Investments Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Virgin Media Wholesale Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Virgin Mobile Telecoms Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
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30 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 { C ) of the Companies Act 2006
Propartion
aof
voting rights
and
Principal

Holding  shares el L
activites

Subsidiary
BCMYV Limited Ordinary 100%% Dormant
Birmingham Cable Limited @ Ordinary 100% Dormant
Cable London Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CableTel Herts and Beds Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
CablcTel Northern Ireland Limited B Ordinary 160% Dormant
CableTel Surrey and Hampshire Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Lurobeif (Holdings) Limited Ordinary 100%% Holding
ntl (B} Limited Ordinary §100% tiolding
atl (Broadiand} Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
HEWC) Corporation 1imited D Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl (South Easty Limiwed Ordinary 1002 Dormant
nti (V) Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl CableComms Surrey Ordinary [00% Dormar
ntl Midlands imited Ordinary 1002 Dormani
ntl National Networks Limiied Ordinary 100% Dormant
il Pension Trustees 11 Timited Ordinary 100% Corporate
Trustee
ntl Pension Trustees Limited Ordinary 100% Corporate
Trustee
nil South Central Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl Telecom Services |imited Ordinary 100% Dormant
ntl Trustees Limited Ordinary 100% Corporate
. Trustee
T.crfc_\\'csl Communications {Dundec & Perth) Ordinary 100% Dormant
Limited
Telewest Communications (Glenrothes) Limited z Ordmary 100% Dormant
T?[ewes'l (;ommunicalions (Midlands and North Ordinars 100% Dormant
West) Limited ’
Telewest Communications {North East) ).imited P Ordinary 100%% Dormant
Telewest Communications (Scotland) Limited b3 Ordinary 100% Dormant
Telewest Communications (South East} Limited D Ordinary 100% Dormant
Telewest Communications {South West} Limijted D Ordinary 100% Dormant
Telewest Communications {Tyneside) Limited <] Ordinary 100% Dormant
Telewest Communications Cable Limited Crdinary 100% Dormant
Theseus No.1 Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
Theseus No.2 Limited Ordinary 100% Holding
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30 Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 349 ( C ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Corporate

Virgin Media Employee Medical Trust Limited Ordinary 100% Frust
stee
Virgin Media PCHC 1I Limited ¢} Ordinary 100% Dormam
Virgin Media PCHC Limited Ordinary 100% Dormam
VM Transfers (No 4) Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Yorkshire Cable Communications Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 ( A ) of the Companies Act 2006

Proportion

of

voting rights

andd
. ] Principal

Holding  shares held o
acliviies
Subsidiary

Bithuzz UK Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms
Cable on Ddemand [imited Ordinary 100% ormant
Channel 6 Broadcasting Limited ¥ Ordinary 100% lelecoms
Cullen Broadceasting Limited \ Ordinary 100% Telecoms
I'lextech Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
General Cable Limited Ordinarv 100% Holding
Kish Media Limited ks Ordinary 100% Dormant
Matcheo Limited Ordinary 76% [Yormant
ntl {CWC) Limited ] Ordinary 100% Dormant
NTL CableComms Group. LL.C = Common stock 100% Dormant
ntl Communications Services Limited Ordinary 100%% Holding
ntl Glasgow 1loldings [imited il Ordinary 51% Iolding
ntl Kirklees Holdings Limited il Ordinary 51% Holding
ntl Rectangle [ imited Ordinary 100% Holding,
Telewest Communications Networks [imited Ordinary 100% llolding
Telewest Limited Ordinary 100% liolding
Tullamore Beta Limited W Ordinary 100% Holding
TV Three Enterprises Limited v Ordinary 100% Dormant
TV Three Sales Limited b d Ordinary 100% Dormant
Virgin Media Bristol LLC = Common stock 100% Finance
Virgin Media Finco 2 Limited Ordinary 100% Non-Trading
Virgin Media I'inco Limited Ordinary 100% I'inance
Virgin Media Intermediary Purchaser Limited Ordinary 100% Non-Trading
Virgin Media Operations Limited Ordinary 100% Ilolding
Virgin Media Secretaries Limited Ordinary 100% Dormant
Virgin Media Secured Finance PLC Ordinary 100% Finance
Virgin Media SFA Finance Limited Ordinary 100% l'inance
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30

31

Principal subsidiary undertakings (continued)

Indirect shareholdings - guaranteed under section 479 { A ) of the Companies Act 2006 (continued)

Virgin Media Television Limited ‘P Ordinary 100% Telecoms

Virgi cdia Trade ivables Inte iarv . I
irgin -f\kdl.a ‘r«idv. Reccivables Intermediary Ordinary 100% Non-Trading

Financing Limited

Virgin WiFi Limited Ordinary 100% Telecoms

Virgin Media Ireland Group Limited Ordinary 100% Holding

All companies are registered at 500 Brook Drive, Reading. United Kingdom, RG2 6UU, unless
otherwisc noted below:

B Unit 3, Blackstaff Road. Kennedy Way Industrial Estate, Belast, BT11 9AP

N Macken House, 39/40 Mayor Sweet Upper, Dublin 1. DO1 C9WS§

E I South Gyle Crescent Lane, Edinburgh, EFLI2 OEG

= 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, IDE 19808. These entitics are registered in the USA.
n Remainder of shares held by group undertakings

O Dissolved subsequent 1o the year end

The company has issued a puarantee under Section 394C) of the Companics Act 2006 for the year ended 31
Dccember 2026 in respect of the wholly owned dormant subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect
sharcholdings — guaranteed under Section 394(C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guaraniees all
outsianding liabilitics to which the subsidiary company is subject to at 31 December 2020, until they are
satisfied in full and the guarantee is enforceable against the company by any person o whom the subsidiary
company 15 liable in respect of thosc liabilities. These dormant subsidiaries have taken advantage of the
exemption from preparing individual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2020 by virtue of Section
394(A} of the Companies Act 2006.

The guarantee under Scction 394(C) of the Companics Act 2006 is in respeet of the above subsidiarics, the
majority of which are 100% owned, either directly or indirectly.

fhe company has issued a guarantee under Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 2006 for the vear ended 31
December 2020 in respect of the subsidiaries listed above in section “Indirect shareholdings — guaranteed under
Section 479(C) of the Companies Act 20067, The company guarantees all outstanding liabilities 1o which the
subsidiary company is subject (o at 31 December 2020, until they are satisficd in full and the guarantee is
enforceable against the company by any person to whom the subsidiary company is liable in respect of those
liabilities. These active subsidiaries hayve taken advantage of the exemption from audit of individual accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2020 by virtue of Section 479(A) of the Companies Act 2006.

The guaraniee under Section 47%C) of 1the Companies Act 2006 is In respect of the above subsidiarics, the
majority of which are 100% owned. cither directly or indirectly.

Parent undertaking and controlling party

The company's immediate parent undertaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest group of which the company is a member and tn 10 which the company’s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2020 are combined financial statements of the “Virgin Media Group® and the
comnsolidisted accounts of Liberty Globat ple, respectively.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2020 was Liberty Global ple.
Copies of the combined financial statements of the “Virgin Media Group™ and ihe consolidated accounts of

Liberty Global ple are available on Liberty Global's website at www.libertyglobal.com or from the company
secretary, Liberty Global ple. Griftin FHouse, 161 Hammersmith Road, Londoen. United Kingdom, W6 8BS,
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32 Post Balance Sheet Events

Joint venture transactions

On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telelonica. SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant 1o this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:30 joint venture,
which will combine Virgin Media’s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create
a nationwide integrated communications provider. The formation of the jeim venture was completed on | June
2021.

On 28 February 2021 Liberty Global entered inte a contribution agreement with Licho Bidco SARL. Pursuant to
this agrecement, Liberty Global and licho Bideo SARL agreed 1o form a 50:50 joint venture, which will manage
a portfolio of investment propertics.

Disposal of investment in subsidiaries

On 4 March 2021, as part of a wider group restructure, the group disposed of its investment in Cullen
Broadeasting Limited and Tullamore Beta Limited.

77



Virgin Media Finance PLC
Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2020

Notes 2020 2019
£ million £ million
Fixed assets
Iny cstments in subsidiaries 5 4,699.4 4.699.4
Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling duc after more than one year ) 7.9 339
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 6 1,966.3 2,000.0
Cash at bank and in hand 0.7 1.4
1,975.1 20353
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 7 (598.3) (329.5)
Net current assets 1,376.8 1.705.8
Total assets less current liabilities 6,076.2 6,405.2
Creditors: amounts falling due afier more than one year 8§ (9.207.3) (4,013.5)
Net liabilities (3.131.1) (2.608.3)
Capital and reserves
Ordinary sharcs 10 .1 0.
Share premium account 11 625.9 625.9
Capital contribution 11 5.0 5.0
Accumulated losscs 11 (3,762.1) (3.239.3)
Shareholders' deficit (3,131.1) (2,608.3)

The notes on pages 80 to 89 form part of the financial statements.

The financial stalements were approved and authorised for issue by the board and were signed on its behalf on 2§
lune 2021,

L Milner
Director

Company Registration Number: 03061787
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

Share Profit
Share premium  Capital and loss
capital account contribution account Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 1 January 2020 0.1 6259 5.0 (3,239.3)  (2.608.3)

Comprehensive income for the year

lLoss for the year - (522.8) (522.8)

0.1 625.9 5.0 (3,762.1) (3,131.1)

As at December 2020

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share Profit
Share premium  Capital and loss
capital account contribution account Total

£ million £ million £ million £ million £ million

At 1 January 2019 0.1 625.9 5.0 (2,813.2)  (2,182.2)
Comprehensive income for the year

[Loss [orthe year - - - {(426.1) (426.1})
As at December 2019 0.1 6259 5.0 (3,236.3)  (2,608.3)

The notes on pages 80 o 89 form part of these financial statements.
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1 Company information

Virgin Media Finance PLC (the “company™) is a private company incorperated, domiciled and registered in the
UK. The registered number is 05061787 and the registered address is 300 Brook Drive, Reading, United Kingdom,
RG2 oL

2 Accounting policies

A summary of the principal accounting policies is set out below, All accounting policies have been applied
consistently, unless noted below.

2.1 Basis of accounting

These financial statements were prepared on a going concern basis and under the historical cost basis in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and the Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure
Framework (“FRS 1017).

In preparing these financial statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure
requirements of International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of Companies Act 2006,
and has set out below where advaniage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The company ’s ultimate parent undertaking, Liberty Global ple, includes the company in its consolidated financial
statements, The consolidated financial statements of Liberty Global ple are prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards and are available to the public and may be oblained from Liberty
Global’s website at www . libertyglobal.com.

In these {inancial statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under 'RS 1071 in respect of the
following disclosures, where required equivalent disclosures are included within the company’s consolidated
financial statements:

o acash {low statement and related notes;

» disclosures in respect of related party transactions with fellow group undertakings:

+ disclosures in respect of capital management;

o the effects ol new but not yei effective International Accounting Standards;

¢ disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel; and

e disclosures of transactions with a management entity that provides key management personnel services to
the company.

As the consolidated financial statements of the company include the equivalent diselosures, the company has
also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

» IFRS 2 share based payments in respect of group settled share based payments; and
¢ ceriain disclosures required by IFRS 13 fair value measurement and the disclosures required by IFRS 7
financial instrument disclosures.

No profit and loss account is presented by the company as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.
2.2 Going concern

The financial statements have been approved on the basis that the compuany remains a going concem.  The following
paragraphs summarise the basis on which the directors have reached their conclusion,

It is Virgin Media's practice for operational and financial management to be undertaken at a group level rather than
tor individual entities that are wholly owned by the group. Treasury operations and cash management for all of
Liberty Global's wholly owned subsidiaries are managed on a Liberty Global group basis. As part of normal
business practice. regular cash flow forecasts for both short and long term commitments are undertaken at group
fevel.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Going concern {(continued)

Forecasts and projections prepared for the Virgin Media group as a whole, indicate that cash on hand, together with
cash from operations, repavment of amounts due to Virgin Media from the Liberty Global group and undrawn
revolving credit facilities, are expected 1o be suflicient for the Virgin Media group's and hence the company’s cash
requirements through 1o at least 12 months from the approval of these financial stalements.

Whilst the detailed cash flow forecasts are prepared at the group level, the directors have also assessed the position
of the company. Notwithstanding net Habilities of £3,131.1 million as at 31 December 2020 and a loss for the vear
end of £522.8 million, this assessment indicates that, taking account of rcasonably possible downsides, the company
will have sullivient resources, through funding from fellow subsidiary companies o meet its liabilities as they fall
duc for that period. Virgin Media Inc. has indicated its intention to continue to make such funds available to the
company as arc needed.

As with any company placing reliance on other group entities for {inancial suppord, the directors acknowledge that
there can be no certainty that this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason 1o believe that it will not do so. Conscquently, the directors are confident that the
company will have sufficient funds to continue to mect its liabilitics as they fall duc for at least 12 months from the
date of approval of the financial statements and have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.
Consideration of the on-geing impact of COVID-19 has not altered this conclusion.

2.3 Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monctary assets and
liabilities denominated in [oreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
The resulting exchange differences are taken to the profit and loss account.

2.4 Loans and borrowings

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial
recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method.

Gains and losses arising on the repurchase, settlement or otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised
respectively in finance income and finance costs using the effeetive interest method.

Finance costs which arc incurred in connection with the issuance of debt are deferred and set off against the
borrowings to which they relate. Delerred finance costs are amortised over the term of the related deht using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as creditors: amounts falling due within one year unless the company has an inconditional
right 1o defer scttlement of the Hability for at least 12 months after the reporting period in which case they are
classificd as creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year.

2.5 Investments

Investments are recorded at cost, less provision for impairment as appropriate. The company assesses at each
reporting date whether therc is an indication that an investment may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the
company makes an estimate of the investment’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment
exceeds its recoverable amount, the investment is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there was an event not foreseen in the original
impairment calculations, such as a change in use of the investment or a change in economic conditions. The
reversal of impairment loss would be to the extent of the lower of the recoverable amount and the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the investment in prior years.

2.6 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents comprise cash at banks and in hand and short-term deposits with an original maturity of
three months or less.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)
2.7 Derivative financiaf instruments and hedging

‘The group has established policies and procedures 10 govern the management of its exposure to interest rate and
forcign currency exchange rate risks, through the use of derivative financial instruments, including interest rate
swaps, cross-currency interest rate swaps and foreign currency forward rale contracts.

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value a1 each balance sheet date.

Derivalives are recognised as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as Habilities when the fair value is
negative.

The foreign currency forward rate contracts, interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps are valued
using internal models based on observable inputs, counterparty valuations or market transactions in cither the listed
or oy er-the-counter markets. adjusted for non-performance risk. Non-performance risk is based upon queted credit
default spreads for counterparties to the contracts and swaps. Derivative contracts which are subject 1o master
netting arrangements arc not offsct and have not provided, nor require, cash collateral with any counterparty.,

While these instruments are subject to the risk of loss from changes in exchange rates and interest rates, these losses
would gencrally be offset by gains in the related exposures. Uinancial instruments are only used to hedge underlying
commercial exposures. The group docs not enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes, nor does it enter into derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
grcater than the exposure to be managed.

For derivatives which are designated as hedges, the hedging relationship is documenied at its inception. This
documentation identifies the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged
and how effectiveness will be measured throughout its duration. Such hedges are expected at inception to be highly
effective.

The group designates certain derivatives as cither fair value hedges, when hedging exposure to variability in the fair
value of recognised asscts or liabilitics or firm commitments, or as cashflow hedges, when hedging exposure to
variability in cash {lows that arc cither attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognised assct or Hability
or a highly probable forecast transaction.

Derivatives that are not part of an effective hedging relationship, as set out in [FRS 9, must be classificd as held for
trading and mcasured at fair value through profit or loss.

The treatment ol gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as hedging instruments depends
upon the nature of the hedging relationship and are treated as follows:

Cash flow hedges

For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
other comprehensive income, while the incffective portion is recognised in profit or loss. Amounts taken to other
comprehensive income are reclassified to the profit and loss account when the hedged transaction is recognised in
profit or loss, such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs, in the same line of the profit and loss account as the
recognised hedged item. Where the hedged item is the cost of a non-financial asset or hability, the gains and losses
previously accumulated in equity are ransferred to the initial measurement of the cost of the non-financial asset or
liability.

If a forecast transaction is no longer expected 10 oceur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Il the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised without
replacement or rollover, or if its designation as a hedge s revoked. amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income remain in equity until the forecast transaction occurs and are reclassified to the profit and
loss account.
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2.7 Derivative financial instruments and hedging (continued)
Fair value hedges

For fair valuc hedges, the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument are recognised in profit or loss
immediately, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assct or liability that are attributable to the
hedged risk. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument and the change in the hedged item attributable 1o
the hedged risk are recognised in the line of the profit and less account relating o the hedged itemn.

If the hedging instrument cxpires or is sold, terminated or exercised without replacement or rellover, or il its
designation as a hedeg is revoked, then the fair value adjustment to the carrying amount of the hedged item arising
from the hedged risk is amortised to profit or loss {rom that date.

3 Judgements in applying accounting policies and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In preparing these {inancial statements, management has made estimates and judgements that affect the application
of the company’s accounting policies and the reporied amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenscs.

Estimates and assumptions

Carrying value of investments

Investmenis are held at cost less any necessary provision for impairment. Where the impairment assessment did not
provide any indication of impairment, no provision is required. If any such indications exist. the carrying value of
an investment is writlen down 1o its recoverable amount.

Recoverability of intercompany receivables

Intercompany receivables are stated at their recoverable amount less any necessary provision. Recoverability of
intercompany receivables is asscssed annually and a provision is recognised if any indications exist that the
receivables are not considered recoverable.

Fair value measurement of financial instruments

Management uses valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial instruments (where active market
quotes are not available) and non-financial assets. This involves developing estimates and assumptions consistent
with how market participants would price the instrument.

Management bases its assumptions an observable dala as far as possible but this is not always available. In that case
management uses the best information available. Estimated [air values may vary from the actual prices that would
be achicved in an arm’s length transaction at the reporting date (see note 9).

4  Loss attributable to members of the parent company

The loss in the accounts of the parent company was £522.8 million (2019: £426.1 million).

5 Investments in subsidiaries

£ million
Cost and net book value:
At 1 January 2020 4,699.4
At 31 December 2020 4,67‘)”9.4
Net book value:
At 31 December 2020 4.699.4
At 31 December 2019 4.6994
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5 Imvestments in subsidiaries {continued)

Details of the principal investments in which the group or the company holds at least 20% of the nominal value of
any class of share capital, all of which are unlisted. can be seen in note to the consolidated linancial statements.

In the opinion of the dircctors the aggrepate value of the investments in subsidiary undertakings is not less than the
amount at which they are stated in the financial statements.

6 Debtors
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Due after one year
I.oan notcs due from group undertakings 1,933.2 1,833.0
Derivative financial asscts 333 167.0_
1,966.5 2,000.0
Due within one year
79 339

Derivative financial assets

Amounts owed by group undertakings due afier one vear represent loan notes which had a carrving value of
£1.933.2 million (2019 - £1,833.0 million) at the balance sheet date. Loan notes are denominated in sterling.
bear interest of 4.95% (subject to adjustment) and mature in April 2026.

7 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2020 2019

£ million £ million

Derivative tinancial liabilities 350 6.6
Interest on loan notes due o group undertakings 833 19.2
Interest payable on senior notes 27.2 231
Amounts owed 10 group undertakings 76.6 74.8
[Loan notes due to group undertakings 376.2 175.8

5983 329.5

Loan notes due 10 group undertakings due within one vear include loan notes which had a carrving value of
£376.2 million (2019 - £175.8 million) at the balance sheet date. 1oan notes are denominated in sterling and US
dollar, bear interest ranging from 1,32% to 7.53% and arc repayvabic on demand.

Amounts owed to group undentakings arc unsecurcd, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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8 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2020 2019

£ million £ million

L.oan notes due to group undertakings 7.996.6 7,789.7

Senlor notes 1,119.5 1,187.3

Derivaiive linancial liabilities 91.2 36.5
9,207.3 9.013.5

Loan notes duc to group undertakings falling due

interest at 4.89% (subjcet 1o adjustment). and mature belween April 2026 and January 2028.

Borrowings are repayable as follows:

after more than onc year had a camying value of £7.996.6
million (2019 - £7,789.7) at the balauce sheel dale. Loan notes are denominated i sterling and TS dollar, bear

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Amounts falling due:
in more than two years bul not more than five ycars - 509.2
Tnmore than five years 9.116.1 8.467.8
91161 8977.0
Borrowings not wholly repayable within live vears are as follows:
2020 2019
£ million £ million
Loan notes due to group undertakings 7,990.6 7.789.7
Senior notes 1,119.5 678.1
9116, 8,467.8
Total borrowings comprise: 2020 2019
£ million £ million
5.25% LS. dollar scnior notes due 2022 - 38.8
4.875% U8, dollar sentor notes due 2022 - 54.0
5.1253% Sterling senior notes due 2022 - 441
6.00% 1.8, dollar senior notes due 2024 - 3747
5.75% US dollar senior notes duc 2025 - 293.1
4.5% Euro scnior notes due 20235 - 1894
3.0% UK. dollar senior notes due 2030 679.3 -
3.75% Furo senior notes due 2030 447.8 -
T 11271 1.194.1
Less issue costs (7.6) (6.8)
11195 1.187.3

Total senior notcs
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8

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year (continued)
Tha company has the following senior notes in issue as at 31 December 2020:

1) 5.00% senior notes due 15 July 2030 — the principal amount at maturity is $6735.0 million. Intercst is payable
semi-annually on 15 January and 15 July commencing 15 January 2021.

2} 3.75% senior notes due 15 July 2030 — the principal amount al maturity is €500.0 million. Interest is payable
semi-annually on 15 January and 15 July commencing 15 January 2021,

Virgin Media Inc., a parent company of the company, and all the intermediate holding companies, guaraniec
the scnior notes on a senior basis. Virgin Media Investment Holdings Limited, a dircet wholly-owned
subsidiary of the company, guarantees the senior notes on a senior sebordinated basis and has no significant
asscts of its own other than its investments in its subsidiaries. ‘The company has given a full and unconditional
guarantee of all amounts payable under the terms of the Virgin Media group’s senior secured eredit facility and
senior secured notes.

Financial instruments

2020 2019
£ million £ million
Financial assets

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 41.1 200.9
Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost 1.933.3 1,833.0
1,974.4 20339

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilitics measurcd at fair value through profit or loss (126.2) (43.1)
Financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost (9.679.4) (9.299.9)

(9,805.6) (9.343.0)

Financial assets measured at fair value through prolit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed by group undertakings.

Financial liabilitics measured a1 fair value through profit or loss comprise interest rate swaps and cross currency
interest rate swaps and certain other loans.

Financial liabilitics measured at amortised cost comprise senior secured notes net of issue costs, interest
payable on senior notes, amounts owed to group undertakings, accruals and deferred income.

Derivative financial instruments are designed to mitigate the risks experienced by the company. The company
has obligations in a combination of 1.5, dollars and sterling at fixed and variable interest rates. As a resull, the
company is exposed Lo variabiliy in iis cash flows and earnings resulting from changes in foreign currency
exchange rates and interest rates.

The company's objective in managing its exposure Lo interest rate and foreign currency exchange rates is to
decrease the volatility of it earnings and cash flows caused by changes in the underlying rates. The company
has established policies and procedures to govern these exposures and has entered into derivative financial
instruments including interest rate swaps, cross-currency intcrest swaps and foreign currency forward rate
contracts. It is the company's policy not 10 enter into derivative financial instruments for speculative trading
purposes, nor 1o enter inio derivative financial instruments with a level of complexity or with a risk that is
greater than the exposure to be managed. The amounts below include amounts relating to short term as well as
long term creditors.

Financial and operational risk management is undertaken as part of the group's operations as a whole, These are
considered in more detail in the consolidated financial statements of the group.
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9  Financial instruments (continued)
The derivative financial instruments held by the company arc recorded at fair value on the balance sheet in
accordance with IFRS 9 Financial Instruments. The fair values of these derivative financial instruments are
valued using internal models based en observable inputs, counterparty valuations, or market transactions in
cither the listed or over-the counter markets, adjusted for non-performance risk.
Cross currency swap contracts
The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
eroup:
Final Hedge type Notional amount Notional amount Interest rate due Inferest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty  from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
‘000 “060
Feb-22 Not designated $63.271 £44 462 5.3% 3.7%
I'cb-22 Not designated §74,310 £52,219 4,9% 34%
Oct-24 Not designated $ 497,000 £349,250 6.0% 4.5%
Jan-26 Not designated $3.300,000 £2.318,903 3.5% 3.9%
Interest rate swap contracts
The company holds the following outstanding swap agreements with another company within the Virgin Media
group:
Final Hedge type Notional amount  Notional amount Interest rate due Interest rate due
maturity due to due from to counterparty  from counterparty
date counterparty counterparty
000 000
Jan-27 Not designated £400.000 £400.000 4.29% 4.80%
Nov-27 Naot designated £500,000 £500,000 4.29% 4.83%
10 Share capital
£ 0600 £000
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
76,184 (2019: 76,184) ordinary shares of £1 each 76 76
11 Accumulated losses

Share capital
The balance classified as share capital represents the nominal value on issuc of the company's share capital,
comprising £1 ordinary sharcs.

Share preminm account

Includes any premiums received on issue of share capilal. Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of
shares are deducted {rom sharc premium.
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14

Accumulated losses (continued)

Capital contribution
The £5 miilion capital contribution was received from Virgin Media Communications Limited as part of a
comprehensive group restructuring in 2006,

Accumulated losses
Includes all current and prior period retained profits and losses net of dividends paid.

Auditor’s and directors’ remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG LLP for non-audit services to the parent company itsell are not disclosed in the individual
accounts of Virgin Media Finance P1.C because group financial statements are prepared which disclose such
fees on a consolidated basis.

The directors received no remuneration for qualifying services as directors of this company. All directors’
remuneration is paid and disclosed in the group’s financial statements.

Guarantees

The company, along with fellow group undertakings, is party to a scnior secured credit facility with a syndicate
of banks. As at 31 December 2020, this comprised term facilitics that amounted to £3,982 milfion (2019 -
£4,015 million) and revolving credit facilitics of £1,000 million (2019 - £1,000 miliion). Borrowings under the
facilitics are secured against the assets of certain members of the group including those of this company.,

In addition, a fellow group underiaking has issued senior securcd notes which, subject to certain cxcepiions,
share the same guarantecs and security which have been granted in tavour of the senior secured credit facility.
The amount outstanding under the senior secured notes at 31 December 2020 amounted te £4,400 million
(2019 - £4,491 million). Borrowings under the notes are secured against the asscts of certain members of the
group including these of this company.

Furthermore, a fellow group undertaking has issued senior notes for which the company, along with certain
fellow group undertakings. has guaranteed the notes on a senior subordinated basis. The amount cutstanding
under the senjor notes as at 31 December 2020 amounted to approximately £1,127 million (2019 - £1,194
million).

The company has joint and several liabilities under a group VAT registration.

Parent undertaking and controlling party

The company’s immediate parent undenaking is Virgin Media Communications Limited.

The smallest and largest groups of which the company is a member and in to which the company’s accounts
were consolidated at 31 December 2020 are combined financial statements of the *Virgin Media Group® and the
consolidated accounts of Liberty Global ple, respectively.

The company’s ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party at 31 December 2020 was Liberty Global ple.
Copizs of the combined financial statements of the "Virgin Media Group® and the consolidated accounts of

Liberty Global ple are available on Liberty (Hobal's website at www libertyglobal com or from the company
secretary. Liberty Global ple, Griffin House, 161 Hammersmith Road, London, United Kingdom, W6 8BS,
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15 Post Balance Sheet Events
Joint venture transaction
On 7 May 2020, Liberty Global entered into a Contribution Agreement with, among others, Telefonica, SA
(Telefonica). Pursuant to this agreement, Liberty Global and Telefonica agreed to form a 50:50 joint venture,
which will combine Virgin Media’s operations in the UK with Telefonica’s mobile business in the UK to create

a nationwide inteprated communications provider, The formation ol the joint venture was completed on 1 June
2021.
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